Vitamin D strongly influences skeletal metastasis development in breast cancer: comparison of systemic vitamin D deficiency versus local ablation of CYP27B1 in breast tumour cells

> Aimée-Lee Luco Experimental Medicine McGill University July, 2013

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Masters of Science in Experimental Medicine

© Aimée-Lee Luco

## Abstract

Vitamin D is very well known for its classical role in the maintenance of calcium and phosphorus homeostasis as well as in the prevention of rickets. More recent findings of its ability to inhibit cell proliferation, induce apoptosis, induce differentiation, inhibit angiogenesis, and modulate the immune system have made it a current topic of intense research, particularly in the field of cancer research. We used a murine model of breast cancer metastasis to bone to investigate the effect of vitamin D deficiency on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within bone. We also established that these breast cancer tumour cells express the enzyme CYP27B1 (1α-hydroxylase) which is able to convert the inactive vitamin D precursor 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) to the active metabolite 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D). We next examined the effect of the local activation of vitamin D by tumoral CYP27B1 on the growth of these tumour cells within bone. Although we did not see a significant difference in the growth of breast cancer tumour cells in the bones of vitamin D deficient mice as compared to vitamin D sufficient mice, we have demonstrated that breast cancer tumour cells that do not express CYP27B1 grow much more aggressively within bone than breast cancer tumour cells which express CYP27B1. This suggests a very important role for the local activation of vitamin D by extra-renal CYP27B1 on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within the bone microenvironment. These findings suggest a potential use for 25(OH)D as a treatment for breast cancer metastasis to bone either alone or in combination.

## Résumé

La vitamine D est bien connue pour son rôle dans le maintien des concentrations de calcium et du phosphore dans la circulation ainsi que dans la prévention du rachitisme. La découverte plus récente de sa capacité d'inhiber la prolifération cellulaire, induire leur différentiation ainsi que l'apoptose cellulaire, inhiber l'angiogenèse, et moduler le système immunitaire rend son étude un sujet de recherche très intéressant surtout dans le domaine de la recherche sur le cancer. Nous avons étudié l'effet de la carence en vitamine D sur la croissance tumorale dans un modèle murin de métastases osseuses du cancer du sein. Nous avons aussi établi que ces cellules expriment l'enzyme CYP27B1 (1αhydroxylase) et sont donc capables d'activer la vitamine D en son métabolite actif la 1,25-dihydroxyvitamine D (1,25(OH))D) à partir du métabolite inactif, la 25hydroxyvitamine D (25(OH)D). Nous avons ensuite examiné l'effet de l'activation locale de la vitamine D par les cellules tumorales dérivées du sein sur la croissance de ces cellules dans le microenvironnement osseux. Nous n'avons constaté aucune différence significative entre la croissance des cellules tumorales du cancer du sein dans l'os chez les souris carencées en vitamine D en comparaison aux souris non carencées en vitamine D. Cependant, nous avons démontré que les cellules tumorales du cancer du sein qui expriment le CYP27B1 croissent beaucoup moins vite dans l'os que les cellules tumorales qui n'expriment pas le CYP27B1. Ces résultats suggèrent un rôle très important de l'activation extra-rénale de la vitamine D par les cellules tumorales du cancer du sein pour inhiber la croissance de ces cellules dans l'os. En conclusion, ces travaux indiquent que le précurseur inactif 25(OH)D pourrait être utilisé seul ou en combinaison pour le traitement des métastases osseuses du cancer du sein.

## Acknowledgments

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all of those who have encouraged and supported me during this stage of my post-graduate education. First and foremost I would like to thank Dr. Richard Kremer who was an exceptional mentor. When I first began my graduate studies in his lab I had no laboratory experience in the field of cancer research. He granted me the freedom to design my own experiments while providing me with the guidance to succeed. I am appreciative of the opportunity he has given me to learn a wide range of techniques as well as the time and resources he has invested in my project. Furthermore I am thankful that he encouraged me to present my work at several conferences. This has considerably broadened my experience as a young researcher.

I would also like to thank Dr. Jiarong Li for the training he provided me in working with our lab's murine models and for his expertise in performing the intratibial injections required for my experiments. For introducing me to the techniques of tissue culture I would like to thank Sylvester Jusu. I would also like to thank Jing Lian for her assistance and patience over the years.

Furthermore I would like to thank all the members of the Royal Victoria Hospital Calcium Research Lab. The positive and helpful environment created by this group of people brightened my graduate experience.

I would like to thank the members of my thesis committee, Dr. Geoffrey Hendy, Dr. Hope Weiler, and Dr. Andrew Karaplis for their guidance throughout my studies.

Finally I would to thank my family for their support and encouragement.

## Table of contents

Abstract · · · · · 1
Résumé ····· 2
Acknowledgements ······ 3
Table of contents 4
List of tables ······ 7
List of figures ······ 8
Abbreviations ······9
I. Literature Review 12
Introduction 12
Sources and metabolism of vitamin D 12
25-hydroxylase enzymes ····· 14
1α-hydroxylase ····· 15
24-hydroxylase 17
Mechanism of genomic actions of vitamin D
Non-genomic actions of vitamin D
Classical role of vitamin D in bone health
Calcium homeostasis ······ 21
Phosphate homeostasis ······ 22
Non-classical roles of vitamin D
Breast cancer ····· 28
Epidemiological link between vitamin D and breast cancer risk 28
Experimental evidence linking vitamin D to breast cancer prevention 30
Clinical trials of vitamin D in breast cancer patients
Bone metastasis ······ 33
Normal bone remodelling

The vicious cycle of osteolytic bone metastasis	
Mechanisms of osteoblastic bone metastasis	
Current pharmacological treatment strategies of breast cancer n	netastasis to
bone ·····	
Vitamin D and the inhibition of breast cancer bone metastasis	43
II. Experimental Section	
Objectives	
Hypothesis ·····	
Introduction to the mouse models	
MMTV PyMT 634 model of breast cancer	
Tissue specific $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablation in PyMT breast tumou	ırs ····· 49
Materials and methods	50
In vitro studies ·····	
Extraction of tumour cells from PyMT breast tumours	50
Cell culture ·····	50
Proliferation assays ·····	
Viability assays ·····	
In vivo studies ·····	
Establishment of vitamin D deficient and vitamin D suffici	ent mice ··· 53
Preparation of tumour cells for intratibial injections	53
Intratibial injections	
X-ray analysis ·····	
Blood collection and analysis	
Collection and fixation of the tibiae	55
Decalcification of the tibiae	55
Preparation of slides of paraffin embedded tibiae	55

Preparation of plastic embedded tibiae 55
Results ····· 57
In vitro studies ····· 57
Preliminary in vivo experiment
Main in vivo experiment ····· 66
Discussion 75
Future directions
Significance 82
Conclusion ····· 83
References ······ 84

## List of tables

Table 1 – Mean serum 25(OH)D, albumin, creatinine, alkaline phosphatase, calcium, and phosphorus at sacrifice for the preliminary mouse experiment	63
Table 2 - Mean serum 25(OH)D, albumin, creatinine, alkaline phosphatase, calcium, and phosphorus at sacrifice for the main mouse experiment	68

# List of figures

Figure 1 – Vitamin D metabolism	19
Figure 2 – Calcium and phosphorus homeostasis	24
Figure 3 – Normal bone remodelling	37
Figure 4 – The vicious cycle of bone metastasis	41
Figure 5 – Tumour progression in the MMTV PyMT 634 mouse model of breast cancer	48
Figure 6 – Timeline for the preliminary mouse experiment	52
Figure 7 – Timeline for the main mouse experiment	53
Figure 8 – Proliferation assays of wild type and $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ or $25(OH)D_3$	59
Figure 9 - Viability assays of wild type and $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ or $25(OH)D_3$	60
Figure 10 – Serum levels of 25(OH)D at sacrifice for the preliminary mouse experiment	62
Figure 11– Representative x-rays of the tibiae at sacrifice for the preliminary mouse experiment	64
Figure 12 – X-ray scoring of the tumour-bearing tibiae at sacrifice for the preliminary mouse experiment	65
Figure 13 – Mean weights of the mice throughout the main mouse experiment	67
Figure 14 – Serum levels of 25(OH)D at sacrifice for the main mouse experiment	69
Figure 15 – X-ray scoring of the tumour bearing tibiae at sacrifice for the main mouse experiment	71
Figure 16 – Image J analysis of the surface area of the osteolytic lesions in the X-rays of the tibiae	72
Figure 17 – Representative x-rays and histology of the tumour bearing tibiae for the main mouse experiment	73

## Abbreviations

1,23,25(OH) <sub>3</sub> -25-oxo-D <sub>3</sub>	1,23,25-trihydroxy-25-oxo-vitamin D <sub>3</sub>
1,24,25(OH) <sub>3</sub> D <sub>3</sub>	1,24,25-trihydroxyvitamin D <sub>3</sub>
1,25(OH) <sub>2</sub> -24-oxo-D <sub>3</sub>	1,25-dihydroxy-24-oxo-vitamin D <sub>3</sub>
1,25(OH) <sub>2</sub> D <sub>3</sub>	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D <sub>3</sub>
1α,25D <sub>3</sub> -MARRS	1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D <sub>3</sub> -membrane-associated rapid-response steroid binding protein
24,25(OH) <sub>2</sub> D <sub>3</sub>	24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D <sub>3</sub>
25(OH)D	25-hydroxyvitamin D
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AF-1	Activation function-1
AF-2	Activation function-2
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BMU	Basic multicellular unit
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CASR	Calcium-sensing receptor
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
DBP	Vitamin D binding protein
DMBA	7,12-dimethylbenzene(a)anthracene
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethlylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ER	Estrogen receptor
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor

H&E	Hematoxylin and eosin
HIF1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1a
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IL	Interleukin
IU	International units
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
Kg	Kilogram
КО	Knockout
LBD	Ligand binding domain
LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
M-CSF	Monocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor
memVDR	Membrane vitamin D receptor
MIN	Mammary intraepithelial neoplasia
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MMTV	Mouse mammary tumour virus
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
nM	Nanomolar
NMU	N-nitroso-N-methylurea
OPN	Osteopontin
OPG	Osteoprotegerin
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
РІЗК	Phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase
РКС	Protein kinase C

PSA	Prostate-specific antigen
РТН	Parathyroid hormone
PTHrP	Parathyroid hormone-related protein
РуМТ	Polyoma middle T oncoprotein
RANK	Receptor activator of NF-KB
RANKL	Receptor activator of NF-KB ligand
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute media
RXR	Retinoid X receptor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRPV6	Transient receptor potential cation channel, subfamily V, member 6
μCT	Micro-computed tomography
μL	Microliter
μΡΑ	Serine protease urokinase
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
VDRE	Vitamin D response element
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WT	Wild type

## I. Literature Review

## Introduction

In the 1600s it was observed that many children who lived in the industrialized cities of Europe developed rickets, which was characterized by severe bone deformity, growth retardation and weak muscles [1]. It was later recognized that exposure to sunlight could prevent and even cure rickets, and sunbaths were encouraged to prevent this condition [2]. In 1918 cod liver oil was used to prevent rickets in puppies and it was determined that there was a nutritional factor in the cod liver oil responsible for this effect [2]. This factor was later named vitamin D and has since been well characterized. Although vitamin D is now well known for its role in calcium and phosphorus homeostasis, it also has many other interesting functions which make it a topic of intense research.

## Sources and metabolism of vitamin D

Vitamin D can be obtained by humans either from the diet in the form of vitamin  $D_2$  or from exposure of the skin to ultraviolet light in the form of vitamin  $D_3$ . Certain foods such as salmon, shiitake mushrooms, and egg yolk naturally contain vitamin D, and other foods such as milk, butter, and yogurt are fortified with vitamin D in certain countries [3]. Vitamin  $D_2$  and vitamin  $D_3$  supplements are also widely available sources of vitamin D. Both vitamin  $D_2$  and vitamin  $D_3$  will be referred to as vitamin D unless otherwise specified. As vitamin D is fat-soluble, it is absorbed in the small intestine along with other dietary fats. Vitamin D is then incorporated into chylomicrons and is transported to the circulation via the lymphatic system [2].

The main natural source of vitamin  $D_3$  for humans is through synthesis within the skin although vitamin  $D_3$  supplements are now readily available. When exposed to ultraviolet B light with wavelengths between 270-300 nm, 7-dehydrocholesterol within the epidermis is converted to previtamin  $D_3$  [4]. The molecular instability of previtamin  $D_3$ leads to its conversion to vitamin  $D_3$  in a heat dependent reaction [4]. Although UVB radiation is able to convert 7-dehydrocholesterol to previtamin  $D_3$ , there have been no reported cases of vitamin D intoxication due to excess sunlight exposure. This is because previtamin  $D_3$  formed in the skin can either isomerize to vitamin  $D_3$  or can absorb UVB radiation to form the inactive isomers lumisterol and tachysterol [5]. Also, the vitamin  $D_3$  produced in the skin can either be absorbed into the bloodstream or can absorb UVB radiation to form other isomers including suprasterol I, suprasterol II, and 5,6-transvitamin  $D_3$  [6]. Therefore, sunlight itself is able to regulate the amount of active vitamin  $D_3$  which is produced within the skin.

The vitamin D<sub>3</sub> synthesized in the skin leaves the keratinocyte and enters the bloodstream where it is bound to the vitamin D binding protein (DBP). Vitamin D is then either deposited within the adipose tissue where it can be stored for months, or it is transported to the liver for the first step of activation [7]. Within the liver, vitamin D is 25hydroxylated by the enzyme 25-hydroxylase. Although the liver is the main site of 25hydroxylation of vitamin D, other sites such as the intestine and kidneys have been shown to have 25-hydroxylase activity [8]. Although not the main active metabolite of vitamin D, 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) is the main circulating form of vitamin D and therefore plasma 25(OH)D levels are often used as an indicator of vitamin D status. Normal serum levels of 25(OH)D in humans can range from 25 to 200 nmol/L and this metabolite has a half-life of approximately 15 days [9]. 25(OH)D is also bound to DBP when in the circulation. In order to be activated, 25(OH)D requires one more hydroxylation reaction. The main site for this  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylation is in the kidneys [10], however many other tissues including the breast, prostate, colon, lung, among others have been shown to express  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase activity [11]. In order to be activated within the kidneys, 25(OH)D must first be transported into the renal tubule cell by binding to megalin, a protein which facilitates endocytosis, on the plasma membrane of the cell [12]. Once in the cells of the proximal convoluted tubule, the enzyme  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase hydroxylates 25(OH)D into the activate metabolite 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D  $(1,25(OH)_2D)$  [13]. This last activation step is tightly regulated within the kidneys. Normal serum levels of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D fall between 75 and 200 pmol/L, and this metabolite has a half-life of 10-24 hours [14].  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is also bound to the DBP when in the circulation. The vitamin D binding protein has equal binding affinity for 25(OH)D and 24,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, has less affinity for 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, and has the least affinity for vitamin D [15].

The enzyme responsible for the inactivation of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is 24-hydroxylase which is found in vitamin D target tissues. 24-hydroxylase is able to catalyze a series of reactions at carbons 23 and 24, which lead to the inactivation of vitamin D and eventually lead to the formation of calcitroic acid which is excreted in the bile [16, 17].

#### 25-hydroxylase enzymes

Researchers have sought to identify the main enzyme or enzymes responsible for 25hydroxylation of vitamin D within the liver. Many enzymes have been discovered which are capable of 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D including CYP2R1, CYP27A1, CYP3A4, CYP2C11, CYP2J2, and CYP2J3. Although these cytochrome P-450s are all able to 25hydroxylate vitamin D, some are better candidates than others for the main role of vitamin D-25-hydroxylase in humans.

- i) CYP2R1 is the most likely candidate as the main 25-hydroxylase responsible for 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D in the human liver. CYP2R1 is a microsomal cytochrome P-450, with a size of 501 amino acids, found in humans as well as at least 47 other species. It is found mainly in the liver and testes [18], and is able to 25-hydroxylate both vitamin D<sub>2</sub> and vitamin D<sub>3</sub> equally [19]. It has been shown that CYP2R1 shows high regioselectivity to the C-25 position of vitamin D, and does not metabolize 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>, 7-dehydrocholesterol, or cholesterol [20]. Furthermore, mutations in this gene have been found in an individual with low 25(OH)D levels and rickets [21]. All of this data combined provides strong support for CYP2R1 as the principal enzyme responsible for 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D at physiological conditions.
- ii) CYP27A1 is a mitochondrial cytochrome P-450 found in the liver, with a size of 531 amino acids, which is found in humans as well as at least 56 other species. Although CYP27A1 was found to 25-hydroxylate vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, this enzyme is not specific to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> 25-hydroxylation [22]. It is thought to be a high capacity version of 25-hydroxylase with low affinity for vitamin D<sub>3</sub>. Furthermore, CYP27A1 seems to be incapable of 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D<sub>2</sub> [22], and therefore cannot explain the metabolism of vitamin D<sub>2</sub> to

 $25(OH)D_2$  within humans. When a CYP27A1 knockout mouse was generated, it was found that the mouse had disrupted bile acid synthesis, but normal serum levels of vitamin D metabolites [23]. Finally, individuals with mutations of the CYP27A1 gene have disrupted bile acid synthesis, but do not express rickets as would be expected with disrupted 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D [24]. Altogether this data suggests that although CYP27A1 is capable of 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, it is not the main enzyme responsible for this step of vitamin D activation and rather plays a more important role in bile acid formation.

- iii) CYP3A4 is a microsomal cytochrome P-450 found in human liver and intestinal tissue. Although it is capable of 25-hydroxylation of vitamin  $D_2$ , it is not able to 25-hydroxylate vitamin  $D_3$  efficiently [25]. This inability to 25-hydroxylate vitamin  $D_3$  suggests that this enzyme does not play a significant role in human vitamin D activation. This enzyme is of interest however because it has been shown to be induced by  $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$  in the intestine [26].
- iv) CYP2C11 is a microsomal cytochrome P-450 which is capable of 25hydroxylation of both vitamin  $D_2$  and vitamin  $D_3$ , however it is only expressed in male rats [27], not in humans [28].
- v) CYP2J2 is a human microsomal cytochrome P-450 which is found in the liver and is capable of 25-hydroxylating both vitamin D<sub>2</sub> and vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, however it hydroxylates vitamin D<sub>2</sub> more efficiently than vitamin D<sub>3</sub> [29]. CYP2J3 is the equivalent cytochrome P-450 found in the rat and it hydroxylates vitamin D<sub>3</sub> more efficiently than vitamin D<sub>2</sub> [29].

#### 1α-hydroxylase

The gene encoding the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase enzyme which is responsible for the activation of 25(OH)D to 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is CYP27B1 [30]. Although the kidneys are the major site of activation of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D [10], CYP27B1 has also been shown to be expressed in extrarenal tissues such as breast, colon, brain, skin, lung, and parathyroid cells [11, 31], suggesting that vitamin D may also have a paracrine or autocrine function within these tissues. Of interest is the finding that extrarenal CYP27B1 expression is upregulated in certain cancers including breast cancer [32] and prostate cancer [33].

Human CYP27B1 is a 507 amino-acid protein which is able to 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylate both 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> and 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> efficiently. Individuals affected by vitamin D-dependent rickets type 1 have been found to have a mutation in the CYP27B1 gene [30]. This is an autosomal recessive condition, and therefore to be affected by the disease both alleles must be mutated or be compound heterozygotes [34]. Due to their inability to 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylate 25(OH)D, these patients have low or absent levels of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> in the serum and therefore display symptoms of rickets despite the fact that they may have normal or elevated levels of 25(OH)D in the circulation. These patients respond well to treatment with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D [35].

In CYP27B1 knockout mice, it has been found that they develop phenotypes very similar to individuals with vitamin D-dependent rickets type 1. These mice have low serum  $1,25(OH)_2D$  and have elevated 25(OH)D levels, suggesting that CYP27B1 is indeed the enzyme responsible for the 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylation of 25(OH)D [36]. This rachitic phenotype of CYP27B1 knockout mice is rescued by feeding the mice either a high calcium diet or a diet containing  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  [37, 38].

 $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase expression within the kidneys is tightly regulated to ensure that the proper amount of active 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> is maintained within the circulation in order to maintain stable serum calcium levels. There are many factors which regulate the expression of CYP27B1 within the kidneys. One factor that directly effects the renal expression of CYP27B1 is the parathyroid hormone (PTH). PTH is able to stimulate the activity of the 1α-hydroxylase enzyme [39] and transcription of the 1α-hydroxylase gene through cAMP by acting on its promoter [40]. Serum calcium levels also regulate the expression of CYP27B1 by the kidneys. Hypocalcemia can stimulate 1α-hydroxylase activity either indirectly by increasing PTH levels [41] or directly as has been shown in animals with parathyroidectomy on a hypocalcemic diet [42]. Conversely, hypercalcemia inhibits 1α-hydroxylase activity [43]. Serum phosphate levels also modulate 1α-hydroxylase expression indirectly through fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF 23). FGF 23 acts to decrease phosphate levels and therefore inhibits CYP27B1 expression within the

kidneys [44]. Finally,  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  directly suppresses CYP27B1 expression [45] and also indirectly suppresses CYP27B1 expression due to its effect in increasing serum calcium and phosphate, as well as inhibiting PTH.

Although the renal CYP27B1 expression is tightly regulated, this is not necessarily the case for extra-renal  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase expression. Extra-renal regulation of CYP27B1 expression in both normal and cancerous tissue is very different than the regulation in the kidneys and can vary depending on the tissue. For instance, it has been shown that in the prostate CYP27B1 expression is not regulated by PTH or calcium in contrast to the regulation in the kidneys [46]. Furthermore, CYP27B1 expression in extra-renal tissues is substrate dependent whereas in the kidneys this is not the case [47].

## 24-Hydroxylase

The gene encoding the 24-hydroxylase enzyme which is responsible for the catabolism of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  and 25(OH)D is CYP24A1. CYP24A1 expression is upregulated by  $1,25(OH)_2D$  as it contains two positive vitamin D response elements (VDREs) in its promoter region [48]. As CYP24A1 is expressed in the kidneys as well as in all vitamin D target cells, exposure of these cells to  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  leads to a 10- to 100-fold increase of the expression of CYP24A1 within these cells [49]. Furthermore, renal CYP24A1 expression is upregulated by phosphate [50] and downregulated by PTH [51].

CYP24A1 is responsible for the conversion of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  to calcitroic acid for excretion in bile. This is a five step process in which  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  is first converted to  $1,24,25(OH)_3D_3$  then to  $1,25(OH)_2$ -24-oxo-D<sub>3</sub>, next to 25-oxo-1,23,25(OH)\_3D\_3 before finally being converted to calcitroic acid for excretion [7]. CYP24A1 knockout mice have reduced viability due to hypercalcemia and renal calcification, and elevated serum  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  levels due to their inability to inactivate this hormone [52].

Although all vitamin D target cells normally express CYP24A1, it has been shown to be upregulated or downregulated in certain cancerous cell types. CYP24A1 expression has been shown in some studies to be upregulated in certain cancers including colon cancer [53], ovarian cancer [53], breast cancer [54], and lung cancer [53]. However, other studies

have shown downregulation of CYP24A1 expression in certain human tumours including breast cancer [53]. The metabolism of vitamin D is summarized in Figure 1.



**Figure 1 – Vitamin D metabolism.** Vitamin D can be obtained either from the diet or from UVB conversion of 7-dehydrocholesterol to previtamin D<sub>3</sub> and vitamin D<sub>3</sub> in the skin. The vitamin D is then transported in the bloodstream bound to the vitamin D binding protein (DBP) to the liver where it is 25-hydroxylated by the enzyme 25-hydroxylase to form 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D). The 25(OH)D then travels to the kidneys, once again bound to DBP where it is 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylated by the enzyme 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase to the active vitamin D metabolite 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D. The 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is then transported to target tissues including the intestine, bone, immune cells, and the tumour microenvironment and can carry out its function. Within the target tissues, the 24-hydroxylase can also hydroxylate 25(OH)D to 24,25(OH)2D. Factors regulating 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase activity within the kidneys include phosphorus, calcium, parathyroid hormone (PTH), 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, and 24,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>. 25(OH)D can inhibit the 25-hydroxylase enzyme.

Republished with permission of Nature Publishing Group, from Vitamin D signalling pathways in cancer: potential for anticancer therapeutics, Deeb K.K. *et al.*, volume 7, issue 9, 2007; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.

## Mechanism of genomic actions of vitamin D

In order to have an effect on the rate of transcription of specific target genes, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D must first bind to the vitamin D receptor (VDR). The VDR belongs to the nuclear receptor superfamily, and is a ligand-induced transcription factor. The gene encoding the human vitamin D receptor is found on chromosome 12q. [55] The VDR protein can be divided by function into three regions. At the amino-terminal of the VDR there is a ligand-independent transactivation function called activation function-1 (AF-1). The DNA binding domain is found in the middle region of the VDR. The C-terminal region of the VDR contains the ligand binding domain (LBD), the RXR heterodimerization domain, and a ligand-dependent transactivation function, AF-2. [56]

When  $1,25(OH)_2D$  binds to the VDR, the ligand-bound VDR heterodimerizes with the retinoid X receptor (RXR) [57] and this complex is translocated into the nucleus [58] where it can bind to the vitamin D response element (VDRE) in the promoter region of target genes [59]. Through the help of corepressors and coactivators, this complex is then able to alter the rate of transcription of target genes.

## Nongenomic actions of vitamin D

Some actions of vitamin D occur much too rapidly to be a result of transcriptional regulation. One known nongenomic action of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  is the fast intestinal absorption of calcium [60]. Although the exact mechanism of these non-genomic actions is not known, they are thought to begin with  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  binding to a membrane receptor (memVDR) [61] with the involvement of a  $1\alpha,15(OH)_2D_3$ -membrane-associated rapid-response steroid binding protein ( $1\alpha,25D_3$ -MARRS) [62].

## **Classical role of vitamin D in bone health**

Vitamin D is most known for its classical role in the maintenance of calcium and phosphate homeostasis necessary for normal bone health, as seen in Figure 2.

#### **Calcium homeostasis**

The maintenance of normal serum calcium levels is necessary for many of the body's normal processes such as muscle contraction, neural transmission and the maintenance of healthy mineralized bone. In fact, calcium is very tightly regulated and maintained at serum levels of 2.17-2.52 mmol/L of total calcium or 1.12-1.32 mmol/L of ionized calcium [63]. In order to maintain the serum level of calcium 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> and PTH work together to maintain calcium homeostasis by acting on either bone, the intestines, or the kidneys.

When serum calcium levels drop, the calcium-sensing receptors of the parathyroid glands sense the decrease and cause the parathyroid glands to secrete PTH, an 84-amino acid hormone with a half-life of mere minutes [64]. PTH then acts on the osteoblasts and the proximal convoluted tubules of the kidneys. PTH induces the osteoblast to express receptor activator of NF- $\kappa$ B ligand (RANKL) [65]. RANKL on the osteoblast then binds either to osteoprotegerin (OPG), a decoy receptor, or to receptor activator of NF- $\kappa$ B (RANK) on preosteoclasts. When RANKL binds to RANK on the preosteoclasts, it triggers the activation of the  $\kappa$ B nuclear factor which causes the maturation of the osteoclast [66]. These mature osteoclast are then able to resorb bone releasing the stored calcium and thereby increasing the calcium levels within the circulation. This mobilization of calcium from the bone requires both PTH and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D. PTH alone has a reduced ability to induce mobilization of calcium from calcium-abundant bone in vitamin D deficient animals as compared to vitamin D sufficient animals [67].

PTH is also able to act on the nephron of the kidney. Within the proximal convoluted tubules of the kidneys, PTH is able to induce the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase gene, which is responsible for the activation of 25(OH)D to  $1,25(OH)_2D$ , in a cAMP dependent mechanism [68]. As PTH activates  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase within the kidney, it also inhibits 24-hydroxylase [69]. This leads to increased plasma levels of  $1,25(OH)_2D$ . PTH acts on the distal renal tubule to stimulate calcium reabsorption and  $1,25(OH)_2D$  also acts to enhance calcium reabsorption in the kidneys[63].

 $1,25(OH)_2D$  also regulates calcium homeostasis within the kidneys by regulating its own synthesis. As previously mentioned,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  inhibits CYP27B1 within the kidneys and induces CYP24A1 thereby inhibiting its own synthesis and inducing its catabolism.  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is also able to inhibit PTH synthesis and parathyroid cell growth [70]. Finally,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  helps regulate calcium homeostasis by acting directly on the small intestine. When a person is vitamin D deficient, only 10 to 15% of dietary calcium is absorbed, however, with the presence of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  and the VDR within the small intestine, this percentage increases to 30 to 40% [3].  $1,25(OH)_2D$  alone is capable of enhancing intestinal calcium absorption; PTH is not required.  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is able to enhance intestinal calcium absorption by upregulating the expression of TRPV6, an epithelial calcium channel, and calbindin 9K, a calcium-binding protein [71].

Once the plasma calcium levels return to normal, the calcium-sensing receptor no longer induces the secretion of PTH by the parathyroid glands, leading to negative feedback regulation.

#### **Phosphate homeostasis**

Maintaining appropriate phosphate levels within plasma is necessary for proper mineralization of bone. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D works in concert with fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) and PTH to maintain serum phosphate levels within the normal range. When plasma phosphate levels are elevated, FGF23 is secreted mainly by the osteocytes in bone [72]. The secreted FGF23 has several effects that cause a lowering of serum phosphate levels. FGF23 has a direct effect on the proximal tubules of the kidneys by downregulating the expression of the sodium phosphate cotransporters, thereby decreasing the amount of phosphate which is reabsorbed by the kidneys [73]. FGF23 also inhibits the expression of CYP27B1 within the kidneys and induces the expression of CYP24A1 resulting in decreased circulating levels of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D [44]. Furthermore, FGF23 inhibits PTH secretion by the parathyroid glands [74]. Overall, FGF23 acts to reduce circulating phosphate levels.

In contrast,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  acts to increase circulating phosphate levels.  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  induces the expression of FGF23, and supresses PTH [73].  $1,25(OH)_2D$  directly increases

plasma phosphate levels by acting on osteoblasts, inducing them to express RANKL which binds to RANK on preosteoclasts inducing their maturation which leads to bone resorption and the release of phosphate stores from bone [73]. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D also directly increases circulating phosphate levels by inducing the expression of the sodium phosphate cotransporters in the intestine which increases intestinal absorption of phosphate. [73]

PTH acts to lower circulating phosphate levels. PTH directly lowers circulating phosphate levels by supressing the sodium phosphate cotransporters in the proximal tubules thereby inhibiting phosphate reabsorption by the kidneys [73]. This hormone also induces CYP27B1 expression within the kidneys [68] and inhibits CYP24A1 expression [69] leading to an increase in 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D activation. This increase in 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D production indirectly leads to an increase in PTH levels.

PTH directly lowers circulating phosphate levels by supressing the sodium phosphate cotransporters in the proximal tubules thereby inhibiting phosphate reabsorption by the kidneys [73].



**Figure 2** – **Calcium and phosphorus homeostasis.** After activation,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  acts on osteoblasts, inducing them to express RANKL which binds to its receptor RANK on preosteoclasts. This induces them to mature to active osteoclasts which can then resorb bone releasing stored calcium and phosphorus. PTH also induces RANKL expression by osteoblasts.  $1,25(OH)_2D$  can also act directly on the intestine to increase the absorption of calcium and phosphorus from the kidneys although the action of PTH predominates in the kidneys.  $1,25(OH)_2D$  inhibits  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase and PTH. Within the kidneys,  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase activity is regulated by PTH, calcium, and phosphorus.

Republished with permission of American Society for Clinical Investigation, from Resurrection of vitamin D deficiency and rickets, Michael F. Holick, volume 116, issue 8, 2006; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.

## Non-classical roles of vitamin D

Although vitamin D was first recognized for its role in maintaining proper bone health, it has also been shown to play a role in many other processes such as the control of cell proliferation, cell differentiation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, and modulation of the immune system.

i) Inhibition of cell proliferation

 $1,25(OH)_2D$  has been shown to inhibit the proliferation of many normal and cancerous cell types through several mechanisms. In normal cells,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is able to regulate the cell cycle by increasing the expression of p21, p27, and p53 [59]. p21, p27, and p53 are cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitors. CDKs are responsible to ensure the phosphorylation of proteins involved in the progression of the cell cycle. Therefore, by inducing the expression of CDK inhibitors,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is able to induce cell cycle arrest in normal cells.

In prostate cancer cells,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  has been shown to inhibit proliferation through cell cycle arrest in the  $G_1/G_0$  phase [75]. This mechanism is dependent on p53 [76] which ultimately causes hyperphosphorylation of the retinoblastoma protein [77], increases the expression of p21<sup>Waf/Cip1</sup> [78] and p27<sup>Kip1</sup> [75], and decreases the activity of cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2) [75].

Similarly, it has been shown in MCF-7 breast cancer cells that treatment with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D increases the expression of p27 and inhibits cyclin D1 thereby reducing CDK activity and inducing hypophosphorylation of the retinoblastoma protein [79]. Furthermore, in MCF-7 cells, inhibition of cell proliferation by 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D was found to be associated to the ability of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D to increase BRCA 1 gene expression [80].

In a model of colon cancer, it has been suggested that Wnt- $\beta$ -catenin-TCF4 may play a role in the antiproliferative role of vitamin D. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D signalling has been shown to cause nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin to translocate to the plasma membrane, which removes the  $\beta$ -catenin-TCF4 transcription signal from the nucleus [81].

In bovine parathyroid cells in culture,  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  inhibits proliferation and the proto-oncogene c-myc [82]. Similarly, in normal and transformed keratinocytes,

 $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  inhibits proliferation through cell cycle arrest in the  $G_1/G_0$  phase while inhibiting c-myc [83, 84]. Although the antiproliferative effects of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  have been studied in many types of tumour cells, the mechanism of action by which  $1,25(OH)_2D$  regulates the cell cycle varies from one cell type to the other.

ii) Induction of cell differentiation

 $1,25(OH)_2D$  is able to induce the differentiation of various normal and malignant cells. For instance,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  induces the differentiation of various myeloid leukemia cell lines [78, 85]. This differentiation requires the formation of activated VDR and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase complexes [86]. In HL-60 cells, a human promyelocytic leukemia cell line,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is able to stimulate their terminal differentiation to cells with characteristics of macrophages by inhibiting the expression of the *c-myc* oncogene [87]. In normal human keratinocytes,  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  stimulates differentiation through an induction of the protooncogene c-fos [83].

It has been shown in prostate cancer cells and colon cancer cells that  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is able to induce the expression of genes that are associated with cell differentiation [88, 89]. In colon cancer cells, differentiation can be induced by  $1,25(OH)_2D$  either by increasing PKC- and JNK-dependent JUN activation [90] or by regulating the expression of inhibitor of DNA binding 1 and 2 [91]. In colorectal cancer cells,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is able to induce differentiation by inducing the expression of the CDH1 gene which encodes E-cadherin [81].

iii) Induction and inhibition of apoptosis

Another non-classical role of vitamin D is its ability to induce or inhibit apoptosis in various cells. There are several mechanisms which have been identified by which 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is able to induce apoptosis depending on the cell type. In MCF-7 breast cancer cells and in HL-60 leukemia cells, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D has been shown to downregulate the expression of BCL2, which encodes Bcl-2, an antiapoptotic pro-survival protein [92]. In carcinoma cells, prostate cancer cells and colorectal adenoma cells, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is able to upregulate the expression of BAX and BAK which are pro-apoptotic proteins [92]. In MCF-7 cells, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D treatment leads to a significant reduction in Akt phosphorylation [93]. The PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway is an important pathway for apoptosis with overactivation leading to a reduction of apoptosis which allows for cell proliferation [93].

In some cell types,  $1,25(OH)_2D$  induction of apoptosis is caspase-dependent such as in non-malignant MCF-12A cells, whereas in malignant MCF-7 cells  $1,25(OH)_2D$ -induced apoptosis is not dependent on caspase activity [94]. Another mechanism by which  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is able to promote apoptosis is by downregulating the mitogenic pathways by reducing IGF receptors and increasing IGF binding proteins [95].  $1,25(OH)_2D$  has also been shown to induce apoptosis by down-regulating telomerase activity which leads to telomere attrition in epithelial ovarian cancer cells [96].

In contrast, in normal human primary osteoblasts isolated from calvariae,  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  inhibits apoptosis through both the mitochondrial and Fas-related pathways [97]

iv) Inhibition of angiogenesis

Vitamin D also has an ability to inhibit angiogenesis by various mechanisms.  $1,25(OH)_2D$  has been shown to counteract VEGF-induced endothelial cell proliferation both in vitro and in vivo [98].  $1,25(OH)_2D$  decreases the expression of VEGF, the most potent stimulator of angiogenesis, in several malignant cell lines by reducing the transcription of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 [99].  $1,25(OH)_2D$  is also able to directly inhibit the proliferation of endothelial cells [99]. $1,25(OH)_2D$  can also increase mRNA levels of thrombospondin 1, a potent anti-angiogenic factor in human colon tumour cells [91].  $1,25(OH)_2D$  has also been shown to inhibit malignant cell-induced angiogenesis by suppressing the expression of IL-8, a proangiogenic factor, in a NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent mechanism [100].

v) Modulation of the immune system

Vitamin D effects many cells of the immune system. It has been shown to inhibit proliferation of B cells, block the differentiation of B cells, and block immunoglobulin secretion [101, 102]. Vitamin D inhibits the proliferation of T

cells [103], resulting in a shift from Th1 to Th2 cells [104]. This hormone also influences the maturation of T cells to facilitate the induction of T regulatory cells [105]. Vitamin D acts on monocytes to inhibit their production of the inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, and TNF $\alpha$  [106]. Lastly, vitamin D prevents the differentiation and maturation of dendritic cells, and preserves an immature phenotype [107].

## **Breast cancer**

According to the Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation, breast cancer was the most common cancer in Canadian women over the age of 20 in 2012 and was the second leading cause of cancer-related death in Canadian women. They have estimated that in 2012 an average of 62 Canadian women were diagnosed with breast cancer every day. The risk of breast cancer increases with age, with 80 percent of the women diagnosed being over the age of 50. Although they have estimated that in 2012 the five-year relative survival rate of breast cancer was 88% for Canadian women, it was estimated that 5200 Canadian women died of the disease. Though advances in screening and early detection have helped to increase the survival rate of patients diagnosed with breast cancer, further research is needed to lower the incidence of breast cancer and to effectively treat the disease in order to eliminate breast cancer related deaths. [108]

### Epidemiological link between vitamin D and breast cancer risk

A link between vitamin D status and breast cancer risk was first suggested by investigators looking at sun exposure and breast cancer incidence. Several researchers found an inverse relationship between sun exposure and breast cancer incidence or mortality. One study found that individuals who worked in professions with higher skin cancer rates had lower incidence of other cancers [109] suggesting that UVB exposure, the potential cause of skin cancer, might protect against other cancers. Another study showed that individuals who live farther from the equator and therefore receive less UVB exposure have higher rates of cancer deaths than people who live closer to the equator [110]. Within the United States it has been reported that breast cancer mortality rates are higher in the Northeast than in the South where UVB exposure is higher [111], suggesting

a protective role of solar radiation against breast cancer. It has also been reported that in areas of high solar radiation, women who have regular sunlight exposure and sufficient dietary vitamin D intake have a reduced risk of breast cancer by 25% to 65% [112].

Due to the suggested inverse relationship between solar radiation and breast cancer incidence and mortality, researchers began further investigating the relationship between vitamin D levels and breast cancer. A strong link was found between 25(OH)D levels in the blood and breast cancer risk in a meta-analysis of two correlative studies [113]. This meta-analysis found that 25(OH)D levels of greater than 52 ng/mL was estimated to decrease the risk of breast cancer by 50% as compared to 25(OH)D levels of less than 10 ng/mL [113]. An analysis of the Nurses Health Study reported an inverse relationship between the intake of dairy products, vitamin D and dairy calcium and breast cancer in premenopausal women but not in postmenopausal women [114]. This finding was also supported by a study which found an inverse relationship between vitamin D status and mammographic breast density, a predictor of breast cancer, which was found in premenopausal women but not in postmenopausal women [115]. A hospital-based case-control study which looked at the levels of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D in the blood at the time of diagnosis with breast cancer found an inverse relationship between 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels and breast cancer [116].

Although many studies have shown an inverse relationship between breast cancer incidence and mortality and vitamin D levels, some studies fail to demonstrate this association. One study which looked at prediagnostic  $1,25(OH)_2D$  levels in 96 postmenopausal women with breast cancer and 96 control postmenopausal women found no association between  $1,25(OH)_2D$  levels and later diagnosis of breast cancer [117]. However in this study the levels of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  were measured on average 15 years prior to the diagnosis of breast cancer and therefore does not necessarily reflect the  $1,25(OH)_2D$  level at the time of diagnosis [117]. Another case control study which looked at vitamin D consumption and breast cancer risk in Canadian women found that women with higher vitamin D consumption [118]. A major limitation of this study was that the

investigators did not consider sunlight exposure and therefore did not consider vitamin D activation by UVB radiation.

#### Experimental evidence linking vitamin D to breast cancer prevention

As described in a previous section, vitamin D has been shown to have many properties which suggest that it could be useful in the prevention or treatment of breast cancer. Vitamin D is able to inhibit cell proliferation, induce differentiation, induce apoptosis, and inhibit angiogenesis. Based on these findings, many researchers have conducted *in vivo* experiments studying the effect of vitamin D on animal models of breast cancer. Many of these experiments have given promising results for the potential use of vitamin D as a treatment for breast cancer.

One mouse model which has been used to study the effect of vitamin D on breast cancer is vitamin D receptor knockout mice. It has been found in these mice that the lack of VDR causes excess branching and proliferation of the breast tissue as compared to wild type mice [119], and impaired apoptosis following lactation as compared to wild type mice with intact VDR [120]. This suggests that vitamin D plays a role in the regulation of normal breast development and that the VDR knockout mice may have increased susceptibility to breast cancer due to this loss of control of breast proliferation. It has been shown that when VDR knockout mice are treated with the carcinogen 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene (DMBA), they develop more mammary hyperplasia and estrogen receptor (ER) negative tumours than wild type mice [121]. Mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV)-neu transgenic mice which spontaneously develop breast tumours have also been used to look at the effect of vitamin D on breast cancer. When mice on the MMTV-neu background are heterozygous for VDR, they have been found to develop more tumours than wild type MMTV-neu mice [122].

The use of breast cancer xenograft models has also proven useful to study the effect of vitamin D on breast cancer tumour growth *in vivo*. It has been shown that when ER-positive human breast cancer cells are xenografted in immunocompromised mice, and the mice are treated with  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ , the  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ , is able to inhibit the growth of the tumours by disrupting estrogen-mediated survival signals and inducing growth arrest of

the cells [123]. When ER-negative human breast cancer cells are xenografted into immunocompromised mice and treated with analogs of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ , the tumour growth is inhibited as compared to control mice by inhibiting proliferation and inducing apoptosis [124]. Furthermore, combination therapy of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  with aromatase inhibitors has been shown to inhibit the growth of ER positive breast cancer xenografts in mice to a greater extent than treatment with either agent alone [123]. Combination therapy with EB1089, an analog of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ , and all-trans-retinoic acid has also shown greater growth inhibition of human ER-positive breast cancer xenografts than either treatment alone in a mouse model [125]. An analog of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  has been shown to sensitize xenografted human breast cancer cells in a mouse model to ionizing radiation [126]. An analog of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  has also been shown to sensitize human breast cancer cells to paclitaxel, a chemotherapeutic agent, in a mouse xenograft model [127].

A potential serious complication of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  treatment is hypercalcemia. Since both normal and cancerous breast tissue have been shown to express the gene CYP27B1 [32], which encodes the vitamin D activating enzyme  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase, it has been suggested that treatment with vitamin D rather than  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  may be a better way to treat breast cancer. The rationale is that by increasing the circulating 25(OH)D levels by dietary vitamin D supplementation there would be increased substrate for the breast cancer cells or other target tissues to locally activate 25(OH)D to  $1,25(OH)_2D$ , which could then act on the cancer cells themselves in a paracrine or autocrine fashion. Since circulating  $1,25(OH)_2D$  levels are tightly regulated by the kidneys where most of the activation of 25(OH)D takes place [10], increasing the circulating levels of 25(OH)D does not run as high a risk of inducing hypercalcemia as increasing the circulating levels of  $1,25(OH)_2D$ . It has been shown that in extra-renal CYP27B1 within cancer cells is not regulated by PTH [46] as it is in the kidneys and therefore the extra-renal activation of 25(OH)D may not be subject to normal feedback regulation.

Some researchers have performed experiments to study the effects of dietary vitamin D intake on breast cancer progression in mice. One study investigated the effect of a high vitamin  $D_3$  diet of 5000 IU/Kg, or a normal vitamin  $D_3$  diet of 1000 IU/Kg on the growth of MCF-7 human breast cancer xenografts in immunocompromised mice [128]. They

found that the mice on the 5000 IU/Kg diet had reduced tumour growth within one week on the diet, and by four weeks the tumours of the mice on the high vitamin D diet were 50% smaller than the mice on the normal vitamin D diet [128]. They also demonstrated that the growth inhibition of the tumours by the dietary vitamin D<sub>3</sub> was equivalent to the tumour cell growth inhibition in mice treated with  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  injections [128]. This study provides strong evidence for the potential use of dietary vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplements for the treatment of breast cancer.

## Clinical trials of vitamin D in breast cancer patients

Although there have been some clinical trials of vitamin D administration in breast cancer patients, they have not produced convincing results. One of the first clinical trials with vitamin D was using the analog calcipotriol [129]. 19 patients with advanced breast cancer participated in the study [129]. The calcipotriol was applied topically at a dose of 100 micrograms once a day for 6 weeks [129]. Five of the patients were withdrawn from the trial prior to the end because of hypercalcemia [129]. Of the remaining 14 patients, three had a 50% reduction of the diameters of the lesions, one patient had a minimal response, five had no change and five had cancer progression [129].

A phase 1 clinical trial was conducted to determine the maximal tolerated dose of the  $1,25(OH)_2D$  analog EB1089 in 36 patients with advanced breast or colorectal cancer [130]. The EB1089 was given to the 36 patients for five days and 21 patients continued taking the EB1089 as compassionate treatment [130]. All of the patients on the highest dose developed hypercalcemia [130]. Although the drug did not reduce the volume of the tumours in any patients, four of the patients had disease stabilization for over six months [130].

A Phase II clinical trial was conducted on women with metastatic breast cancer where they were given 10 000 IU of vitamin  $D_3$  for four months [131]. They found a small increase in serum calcium and a decrease in PTH, however this high dose of vitamin D appears to be safe for four months [131]. Unfortunately they did not see a significant improvement on the disease progression [131]. To date there have been two randomized clinical trials of vitamin D supplementation and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women. In the Women's Health Initiative, the participants were given either 400 IU of vitamin D and 1000 mg of calcium or a placebo [132]. This study showed no significant effect of vitamin D supplementation on the risk of breast cancer [132]. This may be because the dose of vitamin D given was too low to have a significant effect. Furthermore, the women were allowed to start taking vitamin D supplements of up to 1000 IU/day during the trial [132]. In the other study 1179 postmenopausal women were given either 1100 IU of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> and calcium, calcium alone, or a placebo [133]. After four years of supplementation this study found a 60% overall reduction in all cancers and a numerical decrease in breast cancer in the group which was given vitamin D<sub>3</sub> and calcium [133].

Overall, the clinical trials looking at vitamin D and breast cancer are inconclusive. They were either performed in the very late stage of the disease when vitamin D supplementation may be too late to be effective, or the dose given was low and serum levels of vitamin D may not have been elevated enough to see the benefits on breast cancer progression. Further studies need to be conducted in order to elucidate the potential therapeutic benefit of vitamin D.

## **Bone metastasis**

A very serious complication of breast cancer as well as other cancers including prostate and lung cancer is metastasis to bone. 65-80% of patients diagnosed with metastatic breast or prostate cancer will develop bone metastases [134, 135]. Once a cancer has metastasized to bone, it is generally considered to be incurable. Although bone metastasis is rarely the cause of death in breast cancer patients, serious complications of bone metastasis include bone fracture, chronic bone pain, spinal cord compression, and hypercalcemia [136]. These complications can seriously affect the quality of life of breast cancer patients.

The process of metastasis inefficient, and requires many steps in order for the successful spread of cancer from the primary tumour to a distant site. As was first recognized by Stephen Paget in 1889, the process of metastasis depends on both the "seed" (tumour

cells) and the "soil" (host tissue) for the establishment of successful metastases [137]. The first step of bone metastasis involves the primary tumour cells invading the surrounding normal tissue by secreting proteolytic enzymes which allows the tumour cells to escape the primary tumour and enter the bloodstream either from small blood vessels in the normal tissue or from blood vessels which were induced to grow by the tumour itself [138]. Once they have entered the circulation, the cancer cells are transported through the bloodstream to various sites throughout the body. At this point, many of the cancer cells which have managed to enter the circulation will not survive due to the normal protective host-surveillance mechanisms [139, 140]. The tumour cells that do survive will have a tendency to lodge in certain tissues according to the blood flow through the target tissue, the distance from the primary tumour, and the properties of the vasculature [141]. Chemoattractant factors which can be released into the blood vessels by target tissues can help determine where a metastasis develops [142] as can the presence of adhesion molecules on the inside of the blood vessel surface [143]. In the case of bone, it is possible that increased bone resorption could increase the likelihood of developing bone metastases because increased bone resorption has been associated with angiogenesis, especially in the growth plate. Furthermore, the increased bone turnover causes the release of growth factors and calcium from bone, which could also enable the localization of tumour cells to bone. [141] In order to establish metastatic growth in bone, the cancer cells must next be able to extravasate out of the blood vessel by migrating across the sinusoidal wall, they must invade the marrow stroma, and finally induce angiogenesis in order to ensure adequate blood supply for tumour survival and growth [134].

Once tumour growth has been established within the bone environment, either osteolytic or osteoblastic lesions will develop. Osteolytic lesions are caused by osteoclast stimulation rather than by direct effects of the cancer cells on bone [144]. Osteoblastic lesions are caused by local stimulation of the osteoblasts which are next to the metastatic tumour cells [134]. In breast cancer metastasis, bone lesions tend to be primarily osteolytic, however with the use of bisphosphonates, breast cancer bone lesions are becoming more likely to have mixed osteolytic and osteoblastic phenotypes [145]. In prostate cancer, bone metastases tend to be mostly osteoblastic [146].

#### Normal bone remodeling

In order to understand the mechanism of bone metastasis, a basic understanding of normal bone remodeling is required (see Figure 3). Bone is a dynamic tissue which is constantly being remodelled. In adults, approximately 10% of the bone is renewed each year [147]. There are two main types of bone, trabecular and cortical. Cortical bone is mostly responsible for mechanical strength and protection whereas trabecular bone provides most of the metabolic function of bone and is the main site of bone remodeling [148].

The basic multicellular unit (BMU) is the anatomical and functional structure where bone remodeling takes place. Bone remodeling requires the coordinated action of four main types of bone cells within the BMU: bone lining cells, osteocytes, osteoclasts, and osteoblasts [149, 150].

1. Bone lining cells

Bone lining cells originate from the osteoblast lineage and form a monolayer over the surface of the bone when it is in an inactive state [151].

2. Osteocytes

Osteocytes also originate from the osteoblast lineage and are the most abundant bone cells [152]. These cells are embedded in the bone during bone development or remodeling [152]. It has been proposed that osteocytes could be the main mechanosensing cells within bone and therefore may be responsible for the initiation of bone remodeling [153].

3. Osteoclasts

Osteoclasts are the cells responsible for bone resorption [154]. Osteoclasts are multinucleated giant cells which originate from the monocyte/macrophage hematopoietic lineage [155]. Mononuclear cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage within the bone marrow or the circulation are first attracted to potential resorption sites and become attached to the bone matrix where they can differentiate into active osteoclasts in response to stimulation by two essential factors which are produced mostly by osteoblasts: the monocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) and the receptor activator of nuclear factor  $\kappa\beta$  ligand (RANKL) [155].
#### 4. Osteoblasts

Osteoblasts are responsible for the deposition of new bone [156]. They are derived from mesenchymal stem cells which give rise to osteoprogenitors which differentiate into preosteoblasts and finally mature osteoblasts within the bone marrow [157]. Osteoblasts also produce RANKL and M-CSF which are responsible for the activation of preosteoclasts, as well as osteoprotegerin (OPG), a decoy receptor for RANKL [158]. This ratio of RANKL to OPG is important in the regulation of bone resorption [158].

For normal bone turnover, it has been suggested that the osteocytes within bone are able to detect microdamage or bone deformation and can signal to recruit osteoclast precursors to these damaged sites to initiate bone remodeling [159]. The osteoclast precursors are then able to bind to the bone matrix where they will differentiate to mature osteoclasts in response to elevated levels of M-CSF and RANKL. Resorption then predominates within this portion of the bone due to the activation of osteoclasts while osteoprogenitors and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) begin to be recruited to the site. These osteoprogenitors and MSCs will differentiate into mature osteoblasts which will begin to deposit osteoid where the osteoclasts have resorbed the bone. Osteoclast-mediated bone resorption will eventually cease while the osteoblasts continue to lay down the osteoid. Finally, the osteoid will be mineralized and the bone-remodeling cycle will be complete. [148]



**Figure 3** – **Normal bone remodeling.** Osteoclasts are derived from hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) which form pre-osteoclasts. Preosteoclasts bind to the bone matrix and form mature osteoclasts which are able to resorb bone, in response to elevated levels of RANKL and M-CSF. The bone resorption releases growth factors that act on pre-osteoblasts which are derived from mesenchymal stem cells (MSC). These factors induce preosteoblast maturation to active osteoblasts that are able to lay down new bone. After completing their function, osteoblasts can then either be embedded in bone as osteocytes, form lining cells or undergo apoptosis.

Republished with permission of Nature Publishing Group, from Cancer to bone: a fatal attraction, Weilbaecher K.N. *et al.*, volume 11, issue 6, 2011; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.

#### The vicious cycle of osteolytic bone metastasis

When breast cancer tumour cells invade bone, they secrete factors which can stimulate osteoclast activity. One factor secreted by breast tumour cells which has been identified as a main mediator of osteoclast activation is parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP). It has been shown not only that breast cancer cells express PTHrP *in vivo*, but that the tumour cell expression of PHTrP is greater within the bone microenvironment than in the breast or soft-tissue sites [160, 161]. PTHrP secreted by tumour cells is able to activate osteoclasts by upregulating RANKL and downregulating OPG [162], which leads to increased osteolysis.

There are several other factors that are secreted by tumour cells which can lead to osteoclast activation. The cytokine interleukin 11 (IL-11) is normally produced by osteoblasts and bone marrow stromal cells, however breast cancer tumour cells can also secrete IL-11. This cytokine is a potent promoter of osteoclast formation by increasing RANKL expression in osteoblasts [158]. IL-11 expression has been shown to be increased in the presence of transforming growth factor beta (TGF-B) [163]. Interleukin 8 (IL-8) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine which is normally secreted by monocytes, osteoblasts and endothelial cells but can also be secreted by breast tumour cells and is able to activate osteoclasts independent of RANKL [164]. Cancer cells can also activate osteolysis by inducing osteoblasts to increase the production of osteoclastogenic cytokines such as interleukin 6 (IL-6), IL-8, monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) [165]. Breast cancer tumour cells can also secrete vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which is able to induce osteoclast activity and can support angiogenesis [158]. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are also secreted by tumour cells within bone and can increase the ratio of RANKL to OPG thereby favouring osteoclastonegesis either directly by cleaving membrane-bound RANKL [166], or indirectly by cleaving epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like ligands [167]. Breast cancer cells can also induce osteolytic activity within bone by expressing Jagged 1 which activates the Notch pathway in bone cells [168]. This activation of the Notch pathway not only increases osteoclast activity, but can also increase the levels of IL-6 which provides a growth advantage to the tumour cells [168].

Certain transcription factors which are expressed by tumour cells have also been found to promote tumour osteolysis. RUNX2, an osteoblast transcription factor has been shown to inhibit proliferation and induce MMP2, MMP9, MMP13, p21, RANKL, VEGF, osteopontin (OPN), bone sialoprotein and PTHrP expression which results in increased bone turnover [169]. Disrupted nuclear trafficking of RUNX2 in breast cancer cells has been shown to inhibit osteolysis [170]. GLI2, a Hedgehog signalling molecule, can induce osteolysis by breast cancer cells by increasing the expression of PTHrP [171]. The expression of the transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor 1 $\alpha$  (HIF1 $\alpha$ ) in tumour cells is able to promote the differentiation of osteoclasts, and inhibit the differentiation of osteoblasts, thereby favouring osteolysis of bone [172]. Furthermore, it has been shown that tumour-associated hypoxia and HIF1 $\alpha$  along with TGFB are able to increase the production of VEGF and CXCR4 by tumour cells which leads to increased angiogenesis and homing of tumour cells [173].

All of these factors from the cancer cells which induce osteoclast activity cause the bone matrix to be resorbed by the osteoclasts. As the bone is resorbed, certain factors are released from the bone matrix, some of which can affect the growth of tumour cells or can enhance the bone microenvironment to support tumour growth. An important growth factor which is released from the bone matrix is TGFB [168]. TGFB can induce preosteolytic factor production such as PTHrP by tumour cells by activating both Smaddependent and Smad-independent signaling pathways [174]. As previously mentioned, TGFB also acts with HIF1A in a hypoxic state to increase the production of VEGF and CXCR4 by tumour cells [173]. Insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) are also released from the bone matrix due to osteolysis and can act on the tumour cells to stimulate proliferation [158]. This increased growth of the tumour induced by growth factors released from the bone matrix leads to a vicious cycle in which the tumour cells secrete more osteolytic factors and the osteolysis of the bone matrix releases more growth factors that induce proliferation of the tumour cells. Osteolysis of the bone also leads to the release of calcium from the bone matrix. Breast cancer cells, as well as other bone metastatic cancer cells express the calcium-sensing receptor (CASR) and can respond to this released calcium from bone [175]. This activation of the CASR in cancer cells can inhibit apoptosis and induce proliferation [176]. It has been shown that ionized calcium can lead to increased secretion of PTHrP by tumour cells [177] and therefore perpetuates the vicious cycle of osteolytic bone metastasis [178]. Ionized calcium can act as a chemoattractant to breast cancer cells and therefore may draw cancer cells to the bone microenvironment [179].

It is of note that the immune system may play a role in the growth of tumour cells and possibly in bone metastasis. Lymphocytes and bone marrow-derived myeloid cells are recruited to tumours and to areas where there is angiogenesis and hypoxia where they can either enhance immune responses against the tumour or promote the growth of the tumour [180, 181]. T lymphocytes are also important in bone remodeling [182] and can influence tumour growth [183]. Many animal models of cancer metastasis to bone are conducted in immunocompromised mice which lack T cells and therefore the full response of the immune system is absent in these models.

Platelets can also affect tumour growth within bone by releasing factors such as the proangiogenic factor VEGF and the anti-angiogenic factor thrombospondin 1 [184]. Furthermore, platelet-derived factors such as lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and adenosine diphosphate (ADP) are able to induce tumour growth and the release of IL-6 and IL-8 [185].

Overall the vicious cycle of osteolytic bone metastasis is a complex interplay between the tumour cells which induce osteolysis of bone by secreting factors that influence the activity of the bone cells and the growth factors released from bone which stimulate growth and survival of the tumour (summarized in Figure 4). Other factors such as the immune system can also influence the growth of the tumour cells within the bone microenvironment. This complex process is not completely understood and many areas remain to be explored.



**Figure 4** – **The vicious cycle of bone metastasis**. Tumour cells within bone secrete factors which can activate osteoclast activity either directly (solid arrows) or indirectly (dashed arrows) by increasing the ratio of RANKL to OPG. Bone resorption by osteoclast activation releases factors from the bone matrix which promote the growth and survival of the tumour cells. Hypoxia, hypoxia-inducible factor  $1\alpha$  (HIF1 $\alpha$ ) and TGF $\beta$  can increase the production of VEGF and CXCR4 which induces angiogenesis and homing of tumour cells. MMPs can increase the ratio of RANKL to OPG by cleaving membrane-bound RANKL or ECF-like growth factors (red diamonds). LPA and ADP from platelets induce the growth of tumour cells and the release of IL-6 and IL-8.

Republished with permission of Nature Publishing Group, from Cancer to bone: a fatal attraction, Weilbaecher K.N. *et al.*, volume 11, issue 6, 2011; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.

#### Mechanisms of osteoblastic bone metastasis

The mechanism by which osteoblastic bone metastasis occurs is not fully understood however several possible mechanisms have been suggested. The growth factor endothelin-1 is able to stimulate osteoblast proliferation and bone formation, and circulating levels of endothelin-1 have been shown to be elevated in patients with osteoblastic bone metastases [186]. Endothelin-A receptor antagonists are able to inhibit osteoblast proliferation and bone metastasis *in vivo* [187], thereby suggesting that endothelin-1 plays an important role in osteoblastic bone metastasis.

TGF-ß has also been proposed to play a role in osteoblastic bone metastasis. TGF-ß2 stimulates the proliferation of osteoblasts and is a powerful inducer of bone formation [188]. The serine protease urokinase (uPA) may play a role in osteoblastic bone metastasis as uPA has been shown to have mitogenic activity on osteoblast-like cells [189]. Overexpression of uPA in prostate cancer cells was shown to induce osteoblastic bone metastasis in an *in vivo* rat model [190]. Another protease which may play a role in osteoblastic bone metastasis is prostate-specific antigen (PSA). PSA is overproduced in prostate cancer cells and is able to cleave PTHrP at the amino terminal [191].

Prostate cancer cells also express large amounts of fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) [192]. It is possible that FGFs could induce osteoblast proliferation in patients with prostate cancer metastasis, and FGFs have been shown to induce bone formation when administered to rats *in vivo* [193]. It was also shown in a human cell line that had been shown to cause osteoblastic lesions when injected in nude mice that FGF was able to activate osteoblasts *in vitro* and induce bone formation *in vivo* in these metastatic tumour cells [194].

#### Current pharmacological treatment strategies of breast cancer metastasis to bone

One form of treatment currently used to treat breast cancer metastasis to bone is bisphosphonate administration. Bisphosphonates inhibit bone turnover by binding to the hydroxyapatite of bone and blocking activation of the osteoclasts [195]. Bisphosphonates have been demonstrated to delay the onset of skeletal related events and reduce their occurrence [196]. They have also been shown to improve the quality of life of patients affected by bone metastasis and decrease pain associated with bone metastasis [197]. Although effective in improving the quality of life of patients, bisphosphonates may have serious adverse events related to their use including osteonecrosis of the jaw, and renal toxicity [198].

A more recent treatment for bone metastasis is the use of Denusomab. Denusomab is a fully human monoclonal antibody against RANKL which inhibits osteoclast activation by inactivating RANKL [199]. Denusomab has been shown to be superior to bisphosphonates in the prevention of skeletal related events in breast cancer patients [200]. Although Denusomab use is not associated with renal toxicity, osteonecrosis of the jaw can occur [200].

Although there are treatment options for breast cancer metastasis to bone which can improve the quality of life of patients, bone metastasis is still considered to be incurable. Further research is therefore needed in order to find a cure for bone metastasis.

#### Vitamin D and the inhibition of breast cancer bone metastasis

Dr. Kremer's group first described the inhibition of bone metastases by vitamin D analogs in an animal model of breast cancer following intra-cardiac injection of MDA MB231 cells [201]. More recently another group of researchers has investigated the effect of dietary vitamin D on the growth of breast cancer metastasis within bone. They fed immunocompromised mice either a vitamin D-free diet or a 2000 IU/Kg normal vitamin D diet and injected the mice with human breast cancer cells [202, 203]. After monitoring the growth of the breast cancer cells within bone, they found that lesions appeared earlier in the vitamin D deficient group and grew larger as compared to the vitamin D sufficient They also inhibited bone turnover in a subset of the mice by group [202, 203]. administering OPG and found that there was a profound reduction of tumour growth within the bone, suggesting that the bone microenvironment plays a very important role in the growth of breast cancer cells within bone [203]. Although they did not see a difference between the size of the tumours between the group on the vitamin D deficient diet treated with OPG and the group on the vitamin D sufficient diet treated with OPG, they did notice that the vitamin D deficient mice had higher mitotic tumour activity,

higher levels of plasma PTH and bone turnover markers at sacrifice [203]. This suggests that vitamin D has additional effects on tumour growth which is independent of bone turnover [203].

## **II. Experimental Section**

### **Objectives**

Given that vitamin D is able to inhibit cell proliferation, induce cell differentiation, induce apoptosis, inhibit angiogenesis, and modulate the immune system, we chose to study the effect of vitamin D deficiency on the growth of breast cancer cells within bone. It has previously been shown that vitamin D administration in a mouse xenograft model of breast cancer was able to inhibit the growth of the breast cancer tumour as compared to control mice which were not administered vitamin D [123]. Based on these findings, we infer that vitamin D deficiency may promote the growth of breast cancer cells. It has been shown by Ooi et al. that indeed vitamin D deficiency leads to increased growth of human breast cancer tumour cells within the bone of immunocompromised mice as compared to vitamin D sufficient mice [202, 203]. Since this system implemented by Ooi et al. used immunocompromised mice, the full effect of the immune system on the growth of the tumour cells is not seen. We will use a mouse model in which mouse breast cancer tumour cells are injected into wild type FVB mice which have in intact immune system in order to study the effect of vitamin D deficiency on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within bone. We hope to confirm findings by Ooi et al. that vitamin D deficiency leads to increased breast cancer growth within bone [202, 203].

Furthermore, we will look at the effect of the local activation of  $25(OH)D_3$  within the breast cancer tumour cells that express the 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase enzyme on the growth of the tumour cells within the bone microenvironment. An epidemiological link has been found between low circulating 25(OH)D levels and breast cancer risk [204]. This supports the hypothesis that local activation of vitamin D within breast cancer tumour cells inhibits the growth of these cells, as systemic vitamin D deficiency would reduce the amount of vitamin D available for local activation at the tumour site. It has also been shown by Dr. Kremer's lab that the local activation of vitamin D within the breast epithelial cells plays an important role in the inhibition of breast cancer tumour growth at the primary tumour site [205]. We therefore aim to study the effect of the local activation of vitamin D on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells once they have metastasized to bone.

## Hypothesis

We hypothesize that vitamin D deficiency will lead to increased tumour growth of breast cancer cells within bone as compared to vitamin D sufficiency. Furthermore, we hypothesize that the local activation of vitamin D by extra-renal  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase in the breast cancer tumour cells inhibits the growth of these cells within bone.

#### Introduction to the mouse models

#### MMTV PyMT 634 model of breast cancer

In order to study the effect of vitamin D on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within bone, the MMTV PyMT 634 mouse model of breast cancer was used to obtain breast cancer cells. In this mouse model, the expression of the polyoma middle T oncoprotein (PyMT) is expressed under the control of the mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV) long terminal repeat and therefore is expressed specifically in the breast epithelial cells [206]. Mice expressing the PyMT antigen develop spontaneous breast tumours which can be detected as early as four weeks of age [207]. The PyMT oncoprotein induces breast cancer by affecting several signal transduction pathways including phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), Src, and ras pathways which are also affected in human breast cancer [208]. An increase in c-myc is also seen with PYMT expression [207].

The breast cancer progression observed in this mouse model closely resembles breast cancer progression in breast cancer patients. By 4-6 weeks of age, hyperplasia can be detected; by 7-6 weeks adenoma/mammary intraepithelial neoplasia (MIN) is seen; at 10-11 weeks early carcinoma is reached, and by 12-14 weeks late carcinoma is seen with the development of lung metastases [209] (Figure 5). Furthermore, the breast cancer biomarkers in this mouse model mimic the biomarkers seen in the human progression of the disease [206]. For instance, loss of the estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor is seen [206]. The expression of cyclin D1 and Neu also increase, and integrin ß expression is lost [206]. At the cell morphology level, loss of the basement membrane and myoepothelial cells can also be seen along with the infiltration of leukocytes with the progression of breast cancer in this model [206]. The characteristics of breast cancer progression in the PYMT mouse model are depicted in Figure 5.



**Figure 5** – **Tumour progression in the MMTV PyMT 634 mouse model of breast cancer.** Breast cancer progression in the MMTV PyMT 634 model of breast cancer closely resembles breast cancer progression seen in humans. It progresses from hyperplasia at 4-6 weeks of age to adenoma/mammary intraepithelial neoplasia (MIN) at 7-9 weeks of age, to early carcinoma at 10-11 weeks of age, and finally to late carcinoma at 12-14 weeks of age. Loss of the basement membrane and myoepithelial cells as well as infiltration of leukocytes can be seen with breast cancer progression in the mice. The breast cancer biomarkers also mimic what is seen in breast cancer patients with progression of the disease, including the loss of the estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), increases in Neu and Cyclin D1, and loss of integrin β.

Reprinted from The American Journal of Pathology, volume 163, issue 5, Elaine Y. Lin *et al.*, Progression to Malignancy in the Polyoma Middle T Oncoprotein Mouse Breast Cancer Model Provides a Reliable Model for Human Diseases 2003, with permission from Elsevier.

#### Tissue specific 1α-hydroxylase ablation in PyMT breast tumours

In order to investigate the effect of the local activation of vitamin D by  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase expressed in PyMT breast cancer cells,  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells were needed. The Cre-loxP system was used to remove the expression of *CYP27B1* specifically in the breast epithelial cells under the control of the mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV). Cre is able to catalyze the deletion of the gene between two loxP sites which are in the same direction on a DNA molecule [210], and therefore the expression of two loxP sites on either side of the gene along with Cre recombinase in a mouse leads to deletion of the target gene. In order for the mice to develop tumours specifically in the breast which do not express  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase, an MMTV PyMT 634 positive mouse is bred with a mouse which has loxP sites on either side of the *Cyp27B1* gene specifically in the breast epithelial cells under control of the MMTV. This mouse is then bred with a Cre recombinase positive mouse. If the offspring express PyMT, *Cyp27B1* flox/flox allele, and are Cre positive, they will develop tumours which do not express  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase within the breast tissue. These tumour cells were used in our experiments as the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### In vitro studies

#### Extraction of tumour cells from PyMT breast tumours

Late stage breast tumours from wild type and CYP27B1 flox/flox cre+ PyMT mice were used to extract breast cancer cells which were put in culture. The mice were anesthetized with 0.2 to 0.3 ml of mouse cocktail (ketamine 100mg/kg (Bioniche, Pointe-Claire, QC), xylazine 10mg/kg (Bayer Heathcare, Montreal, QC), acepromazine 3mg/kg (Boehringer Ingelheim, Laval, QC)) and sacrificed by cervical dislocation. The primary breast tumour was then cut out using a scalpel and chopped into tiny pieces using a sterile razor blade in a laminar flow cabinet. The tumour cells were then disassociated from the extracted tissue using 20 mL of dispase II and collagenase for 2 hours in a 37 °C water bath. The cells were next washed twice with 50 mL of PBS (phosphate buffered saline) (Wisent, St-Bruno, QC) and centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes at room temperature. 70 mL of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Wisent, St-Bruno, QC) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) and 1% penicillin streptomycin (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) was used to resuspend the extracted cells, and 10 mL of the diluted cells was added to seven 10 mm culture plates. The cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% carbon dioxide. The following three days the cells were washed twice with 10 mL of PBS. When confluent, the cells were passaged twice and then were frozen in liquid nitrogen until they were needed.

#### Cell culture

Breast tumour cells extracted from wild type MMTV PyMT 634 mice and Cyp27B1 flox/flox cre+ MMTV PyMT 634 mice (1α-hydroxylase ablated tumour cells) were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Wisent, St-Bruno, QC) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) and 1% penicillin streptomycin (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON). The cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% carbon dioxide and passaged twice weekly.

#### **Proliferation assays**

Wild type PyMT and 1a-hydroxylase ablated PyMT tumour cells were seeded in 24-well plates with 5000 cells per well. 24 hours later the media was replaced with serum-free DMEM and the cells were serum-starved for 8 hours. The cells were then treated with either 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> or 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). Concentrations of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> used were 0 M, 10<sup>-10</sup> M, 10<sup>-9</sup> M, 10<sup>-8</sup> M, and 10<sup>-7</sup> M added in a volume of 500 µl per well. Ethanol was added to each dilution in the appropriate volume so as to assure that each treatment had the same concentration of vehicle as the 10<sup>-7</sup> M concentration. Concentrations of 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> used were 0 M 10<sup>-9</sup> M, 10<sup>-8</sup> M, 10<sup>-7</sup> M, and  $10^{-6}$  M added in a volume of 500 µl per well. Ethanol was added as a vehicle to each dilution to assure that each dilution had the same concentration of vehicle as the  $10^{-6}$  M concentration. One plate of treated cells was washed with PBS and then trypsinized (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) and the cells for each treatment were counted using a Z1 Beckman Coulter Counter for time = 0 hours. The other plates were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C with 5%  $CO_2$  and one plate was counted at time = 24 hours, 48 hours, and 72 hours following treatment. Each treatment was done in triplicate. The total number of cells per well was calculated using the following formula based on the mean cell count from the Coulter Counter:

#### Total # Cells = <u>Mean cell count X 40 X Total volume of cells in suspension</u>

Volume of suspended cells added to the isotonic fluid

#### Viability assays

Cells were seeded in 24-well plates with 2500 cells per well. 24 hours later the media was replaced with serum-free DMEM and the cells were serum-starved for 8 hours. The cells were then treated with either  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  or  $25(OH)D_3$  (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). Concentrations of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  used were 0 M (ethanol control),  $10^{-10}$  M,  $10^{-9}$  M,  $10^{-8}$  M, and  $10^{-7}$  M added in a volume of 500 µl per well. Concentrations of  $25(OH)D_3$  used were 0 M (ethanol control),  $10^{-9}$  M,  $10^{-8}$  M, and  $10^{-7}$  M added in a volume of 500 µl per well. Concentrations of  $25(OH)D_3$  used were 0 M (ethanol control),  $10^{-9}$  M,  $10^{-8}$  M,  $10^{-7}$  M, and  $10^{-6}$  M added in a volume of 500 µl per well. The media in one plate of treated cells was then replaced with RPMI (Roswell Park Memorial Institute media) (Wisent, St-Bruno, QC) supplemented with 5% FBS, 1%

pen/strep and with 10% Alamar Blue (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON). The plate was incubated with the Alamar Blue at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 75 minutes. Fluorescence readings were then taken with an excitation wavelength of 570 nm and an emission wavelength of 585 nm. The remaining plates for time = 24, 48, and 72 hours were incubated at 37°C at 5% CO<sub>2</sub> until they were required. The procedure was repeated at each time point. Each treatment was done in triplicate.

#### In vivo studies

The MMTV PyMT murine model of breast cancer was used to investigate the role of locally produced  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within bone. A preliminary experiment was first conducted in order to optimize the conditions which would be used in our main in vivo experiment. The timeline for this experiment is depicted in Figure 6. This preliminary experiment had two different treatment groups of mice. Both groups were injected into the right tibia with wild type PyMT breast tumour cells however one group of mice was on a vitamin D deficient diet and the other group was on a normal vitamin D diet. The timeline for the main mouse experiment is depicted in Figure 7. Slight modifications in the timeline were made for the main experiment based on findings in the preliminary experiment. This experiment had four different groups of mice. One group was fed a normal vitamin D diet and injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells. The third group was fed a vitamin D deficient diet and injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells.

Preliminary Experiment:



**Figure 6** – Timeline for the preliminary mouse experiment.



Figure 7 – Timeline for the main mouse experiment.

#### Establishment of vitamin D deficient and vitamin D sufficient mice

All in vivo experiments were approved by the McGill University Animal Committee prior to conduct of the study. All animals were housed at the Royal Victoria Hospital Institute for Animal Studies, McGill University. Wild type FVB mice were bred in a room without UVB lighting in order to minimize the endogenous production of vitamin D in the skin. Three weeks after birth, the female pups were weaned and fed *ad libitum* either a 25 IU/Kg vitamin D deficient diet (Harlan, Montreal, QC) or a 1000 IU/Kg normal vitamin D diet (Harlan, Montreal, QC). The mice were maintained on these specialized vitamin D diets throughout the experiment.

#### Preparation of tumour cells for intratibial injections

Wild type and  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated PyMT tumour cells were thawed, put in culture, and passaged three times prior to preparation for intratibial injections. On the day of the intratibial injections, the 90% confluent cells were washed once with PBS and then trypsinized for 4 minutes. Once the cells had detached from the culture dish, 8 ml of DMEM containing 10% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin was added to the cells to neutralize the trypsin. The cells were then counted using a Z1 Coulter counter and were centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes at room temperature. The media was then removed and the cell pellet was diluted to a concentration of  $1.0 \times 10^7$  cells/ml with sterile PBS. The cells were kept on ice until they were used for intratibial injections.

#### **Intratibial injections**

Six or seven weeks after weaning, the mice were injected with either wild type or  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated PyMT breast tumour cells. The mice were anesthetized with 0.20 to 0.25 ml of mouse cocktail (ketamine 100mg/kg (Bioniche, Pointe-Claire, QC), xylazine 10mg/kg (Bayer Heathcare, Montreal, QC), acepromazine 3mg/kg (Boehringer Ingelheim, Laval, QC)) as needed. A 25G X 5/8 needle was used to inject 50 µl of the PyMT breast tumour cells in suspension (5.0x10<sup>5</sup> cells) into the intra-medullary bone cavity of the right tibia of each mouse. The left tibia served as a control.

#### X-ray analysis

On the day of sacrifice, either 3 or 5 weeks after the intratibial tumour cell injections, the mice were anesthetized with 0.20 to 0.25 ml of mouse cocktail. X-rays of the hind limbs on the live mice were taken at the Center for Bone and Periodontal Research (Montreal, QC) at a magnification of 2X, and settings of 25 kV, and 750 uA.

The x-rays taken at sacrifice were scored according to the following scoring method: 0 (no lesion), 1 (minor changes), 2 (small lesions), 3 (significant lesions with minor peripheral margin breaks), 4 (significant lesions with major peripheral margin breaks. > 10% of bone surface disrupted). The x-rays were scored by two individuals independently and the scoring was performed in a blind fashion in which the scorer did not know to which group the mice belonged.

The NIH Image J program was then used to analyze the surface area of the osteolytic lesions by tracing each lesion in the tibia and adding the sum of the areas of lesion.

#### **Blood collection and analysis**

The anesthetized mice were sacrificed by cardiac puncture. A 25G X 5/8 needle was inserted into the heart under the rib cage and up to 1 ml of blood was collected into a syringe. The blood was then transferred to an eppendorf tube at kept at 4°C overnight. The following day the blood was centrifuged at 13000g at 4°C for 30 minutes. The serum was then transferred to another eppendorf tube and frozen at -80°C until the time of analysis.

The serum collected at sacrifice was analyzed for 25(OH)D, calcium, phosphorus, albumin, creatinine, and alkaline phosphatase. Serum 25(OH)D concentration was measured using the LIAISON total 25(OH)D assay which equally detects  $25(OH)D_2$  and  $25(OH)D_3$  at McGill University in the School of Dietetics and Human Nutrition (Montreal, QC). Serum calcium, phosphorus, albumin, creatinine, and alkaline phosphatase were analyzed by the Diagnostic Lab of the Comparative Medicine Animal Resources Centre (Montreal, QC).

#### Collection and fixation of the tibiae

After the mice had been sacrificed by cardiac puncture, the legs were collected by cutting at the hip bone and removing the skin. The legs were fixed in 10% formalin solution (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) for 24 hours, and were then washed with PBS and transferred to fresh PBS.

#### **Decalcification of tibiae**

Half of the tibiae that had been fixed in formalin were decalcified for paraffin embedding. They were decalcifified by first transferring the bones to 10% glycerol in PBS and placed on a rocker at 4°C for 4 hours. The bones were then transferred to ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (pH=7.30) and placed on a rocker at 4°C for 14 days. The bones were then transferred to 7.5% glycerol in 15% sucrose in PBS for 2 hours, followed by 15% sucrose in PBS for 2 hours, and 7.5% sucrose in PBS for 2 hours on the rocker at 4°C before finally being transferred to PBS and stored at 4°C.

#### Preparation of slides of paraffin embedded tibiae

The decalcified tibiae were embedded in paraffin and cut into 6 µm sections using a Leica RM2165 microtome. The slides were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). This work was done by the Center for Bone and Periodontal Research (Montreal, QC).

#### Preparation of slides of plastic embedded tibiae

Half of the tibiae were not decalcified and these tibiae were embedded in methyl methacrylate. The methyl methacrylate embedded tibiae were then cut into 7  $\mu$ m sections

using a Leica Ultracut Ultramicrotome, put on slides, and stained with Goldner Trichrome and H&E stain. This work was done by the Center for Bone and Periodontal Research (Montreal, QC).

#### Results

#### In vitro studies

Proliferation and viability assays were performed on the wild type and  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated PyMT breast tumour cells in order to demonstrate that they respond to treatment with  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  and that the wild type tumour cells would respond to treatment with  $25(OH)D_3$ . Since the wild type cells express CYP27B1 they are able to activate  $25(OH)D_3$  and should therefore respond to the treatment. Conversely, since the knock out cells do not express CYP27B1, they should be unable to activate  $25(OH)D_3$  and therefore should not respond to the treatment.

The proliferation assays demonstrated that the wild type tumour cells treated with  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  showed a dose-dependent inhibition of cell proliferation when treated with concentrations ranging from  $10^{-7}$  to  $10^{-10}$  M  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  (Figure 8A). The  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  also showed a dose-dependent inhibition of cell proliferation when treated with concentrations ranging from  $10^{-7}$  to  $10^{-9}$  M  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  (Figure 8C). When the wild type tumour cells were treated with  $25(OH)D_3$ , inhibition of cell proliferation was seen at concentrations from  $10^{-6}$  to  $10^{-9}$  M  $25(OH)D_3$  as compared to control untreated cells (Figure 8B). Unexpectedly when the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells were treated with  $25(OH)D_3$ , inhibition of cell proliferation of  $10^{-6}$  M  $25(OH)D_3$ , inhibition of cell proliferation of  $10^{-6}$  M  $25(OH)D_3$ , inhibition of cell were treated with  $25(OH)D_3$ , inhibition of cell proliferation of  $10^{-6}$  M  $25(OH)D_3$ , inhibition of cell were treated with  $25(OH)D_3$ , inhibition of cell proliferation of  $10^{-6}$  M  $25(OH)D_3$ , inhibition of cell proliferation of  $10^{-6}$  M  $25(OH)D_3$  (Figure 8D). Unlike the wild type cells,  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells did not respond to  $25(OH)D_3$  at concentrations between  $10^{-7}$  and  $10^{-9}$  M as compared to the control untreated cells (Figure 8D).

The viability assays showed similar patterns for the wild type and 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> and 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>. The wild type tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> had a reduced number of metabolically active cells when treated with concentrations of 10<sup>-7</sup> to 10<sup>-10</sup> M 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> as compared to the vehicle treated control cells (Figure 9A). The 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> also had reduced numbers of metabolically active cells when treated with concentrations of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> ranging from 10<sup>-7</sup> to 10<sup>-10</sup> M as compared to the control cells (Figure 9B).

When the wild type tumour cells were treated with  $25(OH)D_3$ , the number of metabolically active cells was significantly reduced when treated with concentrations ranging from  $10^{-6}$  to  $10^{-9}$  M as compared to the vehicle treated control cells (Figure 9C). Finally, the 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with  $25(OH)D_3$  did not have reduced numbers of metabolically active cells at concentrations ranging from  $10^{-7}$  to  $10^{-9}$  M as compared to the control cells, however at a concentration of  $10^{-6}$  M 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>, there was a significant decrease in the number of metabolically active cells (Figure 9D).



	0 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
10 <sup>-10</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001
10 101	ns	ns	ns	***
10 <sup>-9</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
10 101	ns	ns	***	***
10 <sup>-8</sup> M	P > 0.05	P < 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	*	***	***
10 <sup>-7</sup> M	P > 0.05	P<0.01	P<0.001	P<0.001
10 M	ns	**	***	***





	0 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
10 <sup>-9</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001
10 101	ns	ns	ns	***
10 <sup>-8</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.05	P<0.001
10 M	ns	ns	*	***
10 <sup>-7</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001
10 101	ns	ns	ns	***
10 <sup>-6</sup> M	P > 0.05	P<0.01	P<0.001	P<0.001
10 101	ns	**	***	***



	0 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
10 <sup>-10</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05
	ns	ns	ns	ns
10 <sup>-9</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.01	P<0.001
	ns	ns	**	***
10 <sup>-8</sup> M	P > 0.05	P < 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	*	***	***
10 <sup>-7</sup> M	P > 0.05	P<0.01	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	**	***	***

	0 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
10 <sup>-9</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05
10 101	ns	ns	ns	ns
10 <sup>-8</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05
10 M	ns	ns	ns	ns
10 <sup>-7</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05
10 101	ns	ns	ns	ns
10 <sup>-6</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
10 101	ns	ns	***	***

Figure 8 – Proliferation assays of wild type and 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> or 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>. A) Wild type tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>. B) Wild type tumour cells treated with 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>. C) 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>. D) 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>. P values are represented below the growth curves and p<0.05 was considered significant.



Time since treatment

	0 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
10 <sup>-10</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001
	ns	ns	ns	***
10 <sup>-9</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.01	P<0.001
	ns	ns	**	***
10 <sup>-8</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	ns	***	***
10 <sup>-7</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	ns	***	***



0 hours 24 hours 48 hours 72 hours Time since treatment

	0 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
10 <sup>-9</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001
	ns	ns	ns	***
10 <sup>-8</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.05	P<0.001
	ns	ns	*	***
10 <sup>-7</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001
	ns	ns	ns	***
10 <sup>-6</sup> M	P > 0.05	P<0.01	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	**	***	***

C)

Viability of 1  $\alpha$  -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated wtih 1,25(OH)\_2D\_3



	0 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
10 <sup>-10</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.05	P<0.01
	ns	ns	*	**
10 <sup>-9</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	ns	***	***
10 <sup>-8</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	ns	***	***
10 <sup>-7</sup> M	P > 0.05	P < 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
	ns	*	***	***







	0 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
10 <sup>-9</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05
10 101	ns	ns	ns	ns
10 <sup>-8</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05
	ns	ns	ns	ns
10 <sup>-7</sup> M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05
10 101	ns	ns	ns	ns
10-6 M	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P<0.001	P<0.001
10 M	ns	ns	***	***
10 <sup>-6</sup> M	P > 0.05 ns	P > 0.05 ns	P<0.001 ***	P<0.001 ***

Figure 9 - Viability assays of wild type and 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> or 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>. A) Wild type tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>. B) Wild type tumour cells treated with 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>. C) 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>. D) 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells treated with 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>. P values are represented below the growth curves and p<0.05 was considered significant.

# Preliminary in vivo experiment to determine the optimal parameters to assess the effect of vitamin D on breast cancer tumour growth within bone

We first began by performing a preliminary experiment in which we had two groups of mice who were fed either a normal vitamin D diet (1000 IU/Kg) or a vitamin D deficient diet (25 IU/Kg). We wanted to determine the optimal experimental parameters to use in order to assess the effect of vitamin D on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within bone. The mice were fed these special vitamin D diets from the time of weaning and were injected into the right tibia with wild type PYMT breast cancer cells seven weeks later. Five weeks following tumour cell injections X-rays were taken of the hind limbs of the mice prior to sacrifice. The mice were then sacrificed by cardiac puncture, the blood was collected, and the legs were fixed in formalin.

Animal observation and mobility:

Seven weeks following the intratibial injections, very large tumours could clearly be seen in the right leg of both vitamin D deficient and vitamin D sufficient mice. The injected leg appeared to be at least five times the size of the control leg. Although they clearly had significant tumour growth within their right leg, the mice were still very mobile although they did have a tendency to drag the tumour bearing leg. In spite of having a large tumour, the mice did not seem to be in great distress.

#### Biochemical analysis:

Serum analysis was performed on the mouse serum collected at sacrifice. 25(OH)D, albumin, creatinine, alkaline phosphatase, calcium and phosphorus levels were measured. As expected there was a very statistically significant decrease in the serum levels of 25(OH)D in the mice on the 25 IU/Kg vitamin D diet as compared to the mice on the 1000 IU/Kg vitamin D diet (Figure 10). The serum levels of 25(OH)D for the group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet was  $116.21 \pm 15.72$  nmol/L as compared to  $16.67 \pm 2.62$  nmol/L for the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet (P<0.0001). There was also a significant increase in the serum levels of alkaline phosphatase in the vitamin D deficient group (Table 1). The group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet had alkaline phosphatase levels of  $55.71 \pm 17.72$  U/L as compared to  $83.00 \pm 20.12$  U/L for the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet (P=0.0246). This may

be an indicator of increased bone turnover. The other biochemical parameters did not differ significantly between the groups (P>0.05) (Table 1).



Figure 10 – Serum levels of 25(OH)D at sacrifice for the preliminary mouse experiment. Serum 25(OH)D concentration was measured using the LIAISON total 25(OH)D assay which equally detects  $25(OH)D_2$  and  $25(OH)D_3$ . There was a significant difference in the levels of 25(OH)D between the group on the 1000 IU/Kg normal vitamin D diet (116.21 ± 15.72 nmol/L) and the group on the 25 IU/Kg vitamin D deficient diet (16.67 ± 2.62 nmol/L) (P<0.0001).

	25(OH)D (nmol/L)	Albumin (g/L)	Creatinine (µmol/L)	Alkaline Phosphatase (U/L)	Calcium (mmol/L)	Phosphorus (mmol/L)
Normal range	75-180	25–48	18–71	62-209	1.47–2.35	1.97-3.26
1000 IU/Kg diet, wild type cells	<b>116.21</b> ± 15.72 n=6	<b>19.57</b> ± 2.23 n=7	14.57 ± 3.46 n=7	<b>55.71</b> ± 17.72 n=7	<b>2.31</b> ± 0.16 n=7	<b>3.00</b> ± 0.37 n=7
25 IU/Kg diet, wild type cells	<b>16.67</b> * ± 2.62 n=6	<b>21.67</b> ± 1.21 n=6	$12.67 \pm 1.21 $ n=6	<b>83.00 *</b> ± 20.12 n=6	$2.36 \pm 0.10$ n=6	<b>2.67</b> ± 0.20 n=6

Table 1 - Mean serum 25(OH)D, albumin, creatinine, alkaline phosphatase, calcium, and phosphorus at sacrifice for the preliminary mouse experiment. There was no significant difference between the groups for albumin, creatinine, calcium and phosphorus (p > 0.05), however there was a significant difference in the levels of alkaline phosphatase (P=0.0246) and 25(OH)D (P<0.0001).

#### X-ray analysis:

The x-rays taken of the hind limbs prior to sacrifice were next analyzed to assess the degree of osteolytic lesions within the bone (Figure 11). They were scored by two people independently in a blind manner and were scored according to the following scale: 0 (no lesion), 1 (minor changes), 2 (small lesions), 3 (significant lesions with minor peripheral margin breaks), 4 (significant lesions with major peripheral margin breaks. > 10% of bone surface disrupted). The x-ray score for the group on the 1000 IU/Kg normal vitamin D diet was  $2.89 \pm 0.98$  and  $3.167 \pm 0.75$  for the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet (Figure 12). There was no significant difference between the groups (P=0.5430). This is most likely because the tumour had grown so large that the bone was completely destroyed in both experimental groups and therefore the extent of tumour growth within the bone could not be compared.



1000 IU/Kg Diet



25 IU/Kg Diet

**Figure 11 – Representative x-rays of the tibiae at sacrifice for the preliminary mouse experiment.** The x-rays of the tibiae taken at sacrifice exhibited intense osteolysis of the bone caused by breast cancer tumour cell growth in both the group on the 1000 IU/Kg normal vitamin D diet and the group on the 25 IU/Kg vitamin D deficient diet. The tumour growth within the bone destroyed the cortex and the tumour spread to the surrounding tissue.



Figure 12 – X-ray scoring of the tumour-bearing tibiae at sacrifice for the preliminary mouse experiment. The X-rays taken at sacrifice were scored by two people independently in a blind manner and were scored according to the following scale: 0 (no lesion), 1 (minor changes), 2 (small lesions), 3 (significant lesions with minor peripheral margin breaks), 4 (significant lesions with major peripheral margin breaks. > 10% of bone surface disrupted). There was no significant difference between the groups (P=0.5430).

## Effect of vitamin D diet and local $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase inactivation on breast cancer tumour growth within bone

Since the tumours had grown so large within five weeks following tumour cell injections in the preliminary mouse experiment that a difference in the tumour growth within the bone could not be seen between the groups, the length of the experiment was modified in order to look at the tumour growth at an earlier time point. Furthermore, we extended the experiment to four treatment groups, some of which were injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells to investigate the effect of the local activation of vitamin D by breast tumour cells on the growth of the tumour cells within bone.

Animal weight and mobility:

The mice gained weight throughout the experiment from weaning to sacrifice and no significant difference was seen between the four groups (Figure 13). At the time of sacrifice, both groups of mice injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells had very large visible tumours in their right leg. The right legs of these mice appeared to be at least three times the size of the right legs of both groups of mice injected with wild type tumour cells which had barely visible tumours. Although the groups injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells clearly had larger tumours, this did not appear to affect their mobility. These mice would walk around the cage as much as the groups on injected with wild type cells however they did have a tendency to drag the tumour bearing leg and walk on the other three healthy legs. None of the mice appeared to be in great distress.



Figure 13 – Mean weights of the mice throughout the main mouse experiment. The mass of the mice throughout the experiment was not statistically different between groups (p > 0.05).

Biochemical analysis:

Serum analysis was performed on the mouse samples collected by cardiac puncture at sacrifice. 25(OH)D, albumin, creatinine, alkaline phosphatase, calcium and phosphorus levels were measured (Table 2). Serum 25(OH)D levels at sacrifice were 92.84  $\pm$  14.82 nmol/L for the group fed the 1000 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells, 100.01  $\pm$  15.75 nmol/L for the group fed the 1000 IU/Kg diet and injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells, and was significantly lower, 20.33  $\pm$  2.02 nmol/L, for the group fed the 25 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type cells (p << 0.01) (Figure 14). 25(OH)D levels for the group of mice on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells are not available due to limited volumes of serum collected. Serum levels of albumin, alkaline phosphatase and calcium, did not differ significantly between the groups (Table 2). Serum levels of creatinine did not differ significantly between

groups except for the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells which had an elevated creatinine level of 23.33 µmol/L as compared to the other groups (P<0.001) (Table 2). Serum phosphorus levels were also not significantly different between the groups except for the group fed the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells as compared to the group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells (p<0.05) (Table 2).

	25(OH)D (nmol/L)	Albumin (g/L)	Creatinine (µmol/L)	Alkaline Phosphatase (U/L)	Calcium (mmol/L)	Phosphorus (mmol/L)
Normal range	75-180	25–48	18–71	62-209	1.47–2.35	1.97-3.26
1000 IU/Kg diet, wild type cells	<b>92.97</b> ±15.71 n=9	<b>19.55</b> ±1.04 n=11	<b>10.91</b> ±2.51 n=11	<b>66.45</b> ±11.56 n=11	<b>2.25</b> ±0.15 n=11	<b>2.65</b> ±0.27 n=11
25 IU/Kg diet, wild type cells	<b>20.44</b> * ±1.74 n=9	<b>18.29</b> ±1.11 n=7	<b>10</b> ±2.52 n=7	<b>48.14</b> ±17.15 n=7	<b>2.28</b> ±0.05 n=7	<b>2.98</b> ±0.23 n=7
1000 IU/Kg diet, 1α- hydroxylase ablated cells	<b>106.82</b> ±12.37 n=6	<b>18.71</b> ±0.76 n=7	<b>13</b> ±1.73 n=7	<b>68.29</b> ±17.00 n=7	<b>2.37</b> ±0.07 n=7	<b>2.89</b> ±0.26 n=7
25 IU/Kg diet, 1α- hydroxylase ablated cells	N/A	<b>20.33</b> ±1.53 n=3	<b>23.33</b> * ± 5.86 n=3	<b>48.33</b> ± 7.09 n=3	<b>2.35</b> ±0.04 n=3	<b>3.37</b> * ±0.69 n=3

Table 2 – Mean serum 25(OH)D, albumin, creatinine, alkaline <sub>I</sub>	phosphatase, calcium,
and phosphorus at sacrifice for the main mouse experiment.	Significance (*) was
defined by P<0.05.	



Figure 14 – Serum levels of 25(OH)D at sacrifice for the main mouse experiment. Serum 25(OH)D concentration was measured using the LIAISON total 25(OH)D assay which equally detects  $25(OH)D_2$  and  $25(OH)D_3$ . The serum 25(OH)D levels were not significantly different between the group fed a 1000 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells and the group fed a 1000 IU/Kg diet and injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells, however, there was a significant difference between the mice fed a 25 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells and both groups on the 1000 (IU/Kg) diet (p<<0.01). Serum 25(OH)D levels for the mice fed a 25 IU/Kg diet and injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells are not available.

#### X-ray analysis:

The x-rays taken of the hind limbs at sacrifice were next analyzed to assess the degree of osteolysis within the bone (Figure 15). They were scored by two people independently in a blind manner and were scored according to the following scale: 0 (no lesion), 1 (minor changes), 2 (small lesions), 3 (significant lesions with minor peripheral margin breaks), 4 (significant lesions with major peripheral margin breaks. > 10% of bone surface disrupted). X-ray scoring of bone lesions in the tibiae at sacrifice were as follows: 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with wild type tumour cells =  $1.469 \pm 0.974$ , 25 IU/Kg diet injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells =  $3.583 \pm 0.764$ , and 25 IU/Kg diet injected with  $1\alpha$ -

hydroxylase ablated tumour cells =  $3.875 \pm 0.25$ . There is a statistically significant difference between both groups injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells and those injected with wild type tumour cells (p<0.05). Although not statistically significant, the x-ray scores for the groups on the 25 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells were numerically higher than those on the 1000 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells (Figure 15).

Image J was also used to calculate the surface area of the osteolytic lesions of each X-ray. The areas of osteolytic lesions in each group were as follows: 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with wild type tumour cells =  $214.6 \pm 137.9$ , 25 IU/Kg diet injected with wild type tumour cells =  $1037 \pm 551.0$ , 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells =  $2116 \pm 884.0$ , and 25 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells =  $2437 \pm 386.3$ . By this more precise method of analyzing the X-rays, significant differences were seen between all groups (p<0.05) except for the group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells as compared to the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells (Figure 16). These findings by X-ray analysis suggest a very important role for the local activation of vitamin D in the inhibition of breast cancer tumour cell growth within bone. These results also demonstrate an importance in having sufficient serum vitamin D levels in order to inhibit the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within bone.

Preliminary bone histomorphometry:

Although the bone histomorphometry has not yet been completed, representative slides of the tumour-bearing tibiae can be seen in Figure 17. In general, the mice in the group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells have very little change in the bone structure. Small disruptions of the trabecular bone can be seen (Figure 17A) but the cortex appears normal. The slides of the mice on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with wild type cells have a bit more destruction of the trabecular bone than the previously described group. This group also has some disturbance of the growth plate but the cortex still remains intact (Figure 17B). The group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells had severe destruction of the trabecular bone, disruption of the growth plate and cortical bone. In this group, the tumour managed to destroy the

cortex and invade the surrounding soft tissue (Figure 17C). Finally the group of mice on the 25 IU/Kg diet and injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells had complete destruction of the trabecular bone structure, of the growth plate and the cortex and invasion of the tumour into the surrounding tissue (Figure 17D).



Figure 15 - X-ray scoring of the tumour-bearing tibiae at sacrifice for the main mouse experiment. The x-rays were scored according to the following scoring method: 0 (no lesion), 1 (minor changes), 2 (small lesions), 3 (significant lesions with minor peripheral margin breaks), 4 (significant lesions with major peripheral margin breaks. > 10% of bone surface disrupted). The x-rays were scored by two people independently and was performed in a blind fashion in which the scorer did not know to which group the mouse belonged. There is a statistically significant difference between both groups injected with 1 $\alpha$ - hydroxylase ablated tumour cells and those injected with wild type tumour cells (p<0.05). Although not statistically significant, the x-ray scores for the groups on the 25 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells were numerically higher than those on the 1000 IU/Kg diet and injected with wild type tumour cells.


Figure 16 – Image J analysis of the surface area of the osteolytic lesions in the X-rays of the tibiae. Image J was used to trace the osteolytic lesions in each X-ray of the tibiae and the surface area was calculated. There was a significant difference in the osteolytic surface area between each group (p<0.05) except for the group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells as compared to the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells.



Figure 17 – Representative x-rays and histology of the tumour-bearing tibiae or the main mouse experiment. Mice on the 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with wild type tumour cells displayed minor osteolytic lesions in the x-ray and very little disturbance of the bone architecture can be seen in the histology. Mice on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with wild type cells display more areas of osteolytic lesions in the x-ray, and more disturbance of the growth plate and trabecular bone caused by growth of the tumour within the tibia. The mice on the 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells have severe osteolysis of the tibia which can be seen in the x-ray. The histology shows disruption of the growth plate, trabecular bone, and cortical bone and growth of the tumour within the bone as well as outside into the surrounding tissue. Finally, the x-rays for the mice on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells show complete destruction of the bone by the tumour and its spread to the surrounding tissue.

The histology shows complete disruption of the cortex on both sides of the tibia, destruction of the growth plate and trabecular bone, and growth of the tumour into the surrounding tissue.

#### Discussion

We chose to investigate the effect of vitamin D deficiency and the local activation of vitamin D by tumour cells on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within bone. We began by treating wild type and  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated breast cancer tumour cells that were isolated from breast tumours on PyMT 634 mice and grown in culture with 1,25dihydroxyviamin  $D_3$  to demonstrate that both cell types would respond to 1,25dihydroxyvitamin  $D_3$  In addition, we treated both the wild type and 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells with  $25(OH)D_3$  in order to demonstrate that the wild type tumour cells would respond to 25-hydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> whereas the 1α-hydroxylase ablated tumour cells would not as they are unable to activate the hormone. As expected, both the wild type and  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells showed significant inhibition of cell proliferation and viability when treated with 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>. We also saw significant inhibition of proliferation of wild type breast tumour cells when treated with 25-hydroxyvitamin  $D_3$ , suggesting that these cells which express 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase are able to activate the 25-hydroxyvitamin  $D_3$  to the active compound, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin  $D_3$ which can then act on the cells to inhibit proliferation. When the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells were treated with 25-hydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>, they did not respond to the treatment except at a concentration of 10<sup>-6</sup> M. When treated with 10<sup>-6</sup> M 25hydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>, these cells had a drastic decrease in cell proliferation as compared to vehicle treated control cells. It is possible that this may be due to cytotoxic effects of the high concentration of  $25(OH)D_3$  on the cells. This is also possible for the wild type cells as can be seen in Figures 6 and 7, since the wild type cells also displayed a drastic decrease in cell proliferation and viability with treatment of 10<sup>-6</sup> M 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> as compared to the inhibition seen at concentrations ranging from  $10^{-9}$  to  $10^{-7}$  M. Another alternative explanation for the inhibition of cell proliferation seen in the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells could be that the 25-hydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> can act as a vitamin D receptor ligand at the high concentration of  $10^{-6}$  M. It has been shown by Lou *et al* that in human prostate cancer cells a concentration of 500 nM 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> can inhibit the growth of these cells by up to 60% [211]. It is possible that this is why we are seeing growth inhibition of the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells when treated with high concentrations of  $25(OH)D_3$ .

Once we had established that the wild type tumour cells were responsive to both  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  and  $25(OH)D_3$ , we went on to perform the preliminary mouse experiment in which one group of mice was fed a vitamin D deficient diet of 25 IU/Kg, and another group of mice was fed a normal vitamin D diet of 1000 IU/Kg. Both groups were injected into the right tibia with wild type PyMT breast cancer tumour cells after seven weeks on the special diets. Five weeks following tumour cell injections the mice were sacrificed, blood was collected, and x-ray scoring was assessed. As expected vitamin D deficiency was established in the mice on the vitamin D deficient diet as compared to those on the vitamin D sufficient diet.

We next analyzed the osteolytic lesions by X-ray scoring in order to assess tumour burden. We expected to see greater tumour growth in the vitamin D deficient mice due to the increased bone turnover that results from vitamin D deficiency and the loss of the direct growth inhibitory effect of vitamin D on the tumour cells. However, what we saw was no significant difference between the two groups. We let the tumours grow for five weeks following tumour cell injections before the mice were sacrificed and the tumours were analyzed. By this point the tumours had grown very large and broken through the cortical bone and had invading the surrounding tissue. We believe that the period of time between the intratibial injections the time of sacrifice exceeded the point at which we would be able to distinguish any differences between the groups. It is possible that the effect of vitamin D could be seen during the early stages of tumour development but by waiting five weeks to sacrifice the mice, we were unable to see an effect.

In a paper by Ooi *et al*, immunocompromised mice were put on either a vitamin D deficient diet or a normal vitamin D diet and were injected into the tibia with human breast cancer cells. They analyzed the difference between the growth of the tumours between the groups at two time points, 14 days and 28 days. They found that the mice on the vitamin D deficient diet developed tumours which could be seen radiographically earlier than the mice on the vitamin D sufficient diet. Furthermore, at 14 days after tumour cell injections they saw significantly greater lesion areas in the mice on the vitamin D deficient diet as compared to those on the vitamin D sufficient diet. However, they found no significant difference in the size of the lesion areas 28 days following

tumour cell injections. [202] This may explain why we did not see a significant difference in the x-ray scoring of the lesion areas between our groups since we waited 35 days to sacrifice the mice and analyze tumour burden. It is possible that by this time point in tumour development, the growing tumour has taken control of the bone microenvironment and the vicious cycle of osteolytic bone metastasis is prevailing, masking any effects of the vitamin D on the growth of the tumour. We would have liked to be able to monitor the tumour growth by X-rays at various time points after tumour cell injections however this was not possible due to animal facility policies.

Since we saw no significant difference between groups in the X-ray scoring for the preliminary mouse experiment, we decided to repeat the experiment with some modifications and to expand it to look at the effect of the local activation of vitamin D by tumour cells on the growth of these tumour cells within bone. This time the mice were on the special vitamin D diets for six weeks prior to tumour cell injections instead of seven weeks as in the first mouse experiment. We chose to wait six weeks prior to tumour cell injections this time since a similar experiment by Ooi *et al* determined that after four weeks on a vitamin D deficient diet, vitamin D deficiency was established in a mouse model [202]. Six weeks would assure appropriate vitamin D levels at the time of tumour cell injections. Also, in this experiment we did not wait as long after tumour cell injections to sacrifice the mice. Instead of allowing the tumours to grow within the bone for five weeks prior to sacrifice, we sacrificed the mice three weeks following tumour cell injections. We also added two more treatment groups of mice that were not present in the first mouse experiment. This time we included a group which was fed a normal vitamin D diet and injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells and another group on a vitamin D deficient diet and injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells. These groups were used in order to investigate the effect of the local activation of  $25(OH)D_3$  by tumoral 1α-hydroxylase on the growth of breast cancer tumour cells within bone.

In this experiment, we saw significantly lower levels of 25(OH)D in the mice on the vitamin D deficient diet as compared to those on the normal vitamin D diet as expected. Although we saw some differences between the levels of creatinine and phosphorus in the group on the vitamin D deficient diet and injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour

cells as compared to the other groups, this is most likely due to the very small sample size. Unfortunately there were only four mice in this group and only three of these mice had sufficient amounts of serum extracted to be analyzed. In order to draw any real conclusions regarding serum levels, this experiment would have to be repeated with a greater number of mice in this group. The elevated creatinine and phosphorus could be an indicator of kidney failure in this group.

We next went on to analyze the x-rays taken at sacrifice to assess differences in the degree of osteolysis by X-ray scoring between groups, and obtained very interesting results. We found a significant difference in x-ray scoring of both groups injected with 1α-hydroxylase ablated tumour cells as compared to both groups injected with wild type tumour cells. The mice injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells had significantly greater x-ray scoring and therefore greater tumour osteolysis within bone than the mice injected with wild type cells. This suggests an important role for the local activation of vitamin D on the growth inhibition of breast cancer tumour cells within bone. Although we did not see statistically significant differences in the x-ray scoring between the two groups injected with wild type tumour cells, there was a small numerical difference in which the vitamin D deficient mice showed a trend towards worse osteolytic lesions than the mice on the vitamin D sufficient diet. As X-ray scoring is not the most precise way to analyze the degree of osteolysis within bone, image J was also used to calculate the surface area of the osteolytic lesions in the X-rays. This technique confirmed the results from the X-ray scoring with the same trends seen in each group, however with this more precise analytical method all groups had statistically significant differences between groups except for the group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ hydroxylase-ablated tumour cells as compared to the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase-ablated tumour cells. With this analysis there was a significant difference between the group on a 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with wild type tumour cells and the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with wild type tumour cells which we did not see with simple X-ray scoring. Therefore, this suggests that vitamin D status is an important factor in breast cancer tumour cell growth within bone along with the local activation of vitamin D. Future hitstomorphometric analysis should further confirm the findings by X-ray analysis.

### **Future Directions**

We plan on first completing the bone histomorphometric analysis of the tibiae collected from both mouse experiments in order to confirm the results found by x-ray scoring. We will assess the size of the tumours and on the cellular level, and examine the number of osteoclasts and osteoblasts to assess bone turnover. We may be able to see significant differences between the group on the 1000 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells and the group on the 25 IU/Kg diet injected with 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour.

We plan on performing  $\mu$ CT analysis of a representative sample of the tumour-bearing tibiae from each treatment group. This will help us quantify the areas of osteolytic lesions that we observed in the x-rays taken at sacrifice. It will also allow us to analyze the changes in bone structure and allow us to examine the bones in three dimensions.

We also plan on repeating the main mouse experiment using a greater number of mice in each group. In particular, the group on the low vitamin D diet and injected with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells consisted of only four mice and therefore a larger number is required to be able to confirm the findings from this experiment. We would also like to collect a sample of the tumours from the legs of the mice in order to extract the RNA to investigate differences in the expression of certain genes encoding proteins such as AKT, CXCR4, VEGF, and RANKL between the groups on the normal vitamin D diet and the groups on the vitamin D deficient diet. We would also like to compare the expression of these and other genes between the groups injected with wild type tumour cells and  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablated tumour cells in order to have a better understanding of the mechanism responsible for the great differences we saw between these groups.

It has previously been shown in our laboratory that  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablation within the breast epithelial cells leads to an increased growth rate and earlier development of breast tumours in CYP27B1 flox/flox cre+ PyMT mice than in wild type PyMT mouse primary breast tumours [205]. Although the effect seen in the bone microenvironment is similar, we see much greater tumour cell growth with  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase ablation in the bone microenvironment than in the primary tumour site. We would like to explore what factors

in the bone microenvironment may be amplifying this effect and which signalling pathways may be differentially expressed in tumours in the bone microenvironment as compared to the primary tumour site. Some factors we are interested in exploring are AKT, RANKL, CXCR4, and VEGF, among others.

We also plan on analyzing the serum from each treatment group for osteocalcin and tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b in order to look at bone turnover. We would like to confirm that there was increased bone turnover in the vitamin D deficient mice as compared to the vitamin D sufficient mice. We would also like to analyze the serum level of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  between the groups. In a paper by Swami *et al* it was found that mice with a breast cancer xenograft fed a high vitamin D diet of 5000 IU/Kg had elevated levels of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  in the circulation as compared to control mice which were fed the same 5000 IU/Kg vitamin D diet but were not tumour bearing [128]. They also found that the high vitamin D diet did not lead to an increase in renal CYP27B1 expression however the high vitamin D diet caused a significant increase in the tumoral CYP27B1 expression [128]. This data suggests that the elevated serum 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> levels seen in tumour bearing mice on a 5000 IU/Kg vitamin D diet as compared to non-tumour bearing mice on the same 5000 IU/Kg vitamin D diet is not due to increased renal activation of vitamin D but rather activation at another source, possibly at the tumour site. It would be interesting to investigate if the same phenomenon is seen in our mouse model of bone metastasis. Due to limited volumes of serum collected it was not possible to analyze  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  in our first two mouse experiments.

We are also interested in looking at the effect of vitamin D supplementation through the diet on the effect of breast cancer tumour growth within bone in combination with bisphosphonate treatment as this is the current treatment for bone metastasis in breast cancer patients. Since a bisphosphonate such as zoledronic acid inhibits bone turnover, it would be interesting to investigate whether locally produced 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> by tumour cells plays a role in inhibiting the growth of these tumour cells within bone, independent of bone turnover. It could also be interesting to study the effect of vitamin D deficiency on the growth of breast cancer cells within bone in ovariectomized mice. This would

mimic the hormonal situation seen in menopause, the time in life when women are most likely to develop breast cancer.

Overall more work needs to be conducted in order to determine by which mechanism or mechanisms locally activated vitamin D is able to inhibit tumour growth within bone and to determine how this information could be used to treat breast cancer patients most effectively.

# Significance

Although there has been great progress in the early detection and treatment of breast cancer, bone metastasis continues to be a very serious and debilitating consequence of breast cancer progression. In fact, once it has metastasized to bone, it is generally considered to be incurable. Through our experiments using a mouse model of breast cancer metastasis to bone, we have demonstrated that the local activation of vitamin D by breast cancer cells plays a significant role in inhibiting the growth of these tumour cells within the bone microenvironment. This could lead to very useful clinical applications as it suggests that instead of treating breast cancer patients with the active metabolite,  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ , it may be possible to elevate a patient's  $25(OH)D_3$  levels with the same effect on inhibition of tumour cell growth without running the risk of hypercalcemia.

While we have demonstrated that local activation of vitamin D can significantly inhibit breast cancer cell growth within bone, it did not lead to complete cessation of tumour growth. Therefore, vitamin D supplementation would most likely prove useful as a combination therapy, administered in combination with the currently used bisphosphonates. Further research into combination therapies with vitamin D should be considered.

## Conclusion

Although a link between vitamin D and breast cancer has been shown, very little is known about the importance of the local activation of vitamin D on the growth of breast cancer tumours. Using a murine model of breast cancer tumour growth within bone, we have demonstrated that the local activation of 25(OH)D by tumoral 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase plays a very important role in the inhibition of breast cancer tumour cell growth in the bone microenvironment. This finding is very interesting as this would mean that instead of treating patients with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> to treat breast cancer bone metastasis, it may be possible to treat patients with 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>. Although the activation of vitamin D by renal 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase is tightly regulated, this is not the case for tumoral 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase and therefore it may be possible to increase the levels of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> at the tumour site without running the risk of hypercalcemia which can occur with high circulating 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> levels.

## References

- 1. Rajakumar K: Vitamin D, cod-liver oil, sunlight, and rickets: a historical perspective. *Pediatrics* 2003, **112**(2):e132-135.
- 2. Holick MF: Resurrection of vitamin D deficiency and rickets. *J Clin Invest* 2006, **116**(8):2062-2072.
- 3. Holick MF: **Vitamin D deficiency**. *The New England journal of medicine* 2007, **357**(3):266-281.
- 4. MacLaughlin JA, Anderson RR, Holick MF: **Spectral character of sunlight modulates photosynthesis of previtamin D3 and its photoisomers in human skin**. *Science (New York, NY)* 1982, **216**(4549):1001-1003.
- 5. Holick MF, MacLaughlin JA, Doppelt SH: **Regulation of cutaneous previtamin D3 photosynthesis in man: skin pigment is not an essential regulator**. *Science (New York, NY)* 1981, **211**(4482):590-593.
- 6. Webb AR, DeCosta BR, Holick MF: Sunlight regulates the cutaneous production of vitamin D3 by causing its photodegradation. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1989, **68**(5):882-887.
- 7. Jones G, Strugnell SA, DeLuca HF: **Current understanding of the molecular actions of vitamin D**. *Physiological reviews* 1998, **78**(4):1193-1231.
- 8. Tucker Iii G, Gagnon RE, Haussler MR: Vitamin D3-25-hydroxylase: Tissue occurrence and apparent lack of regulation. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 1973, 155(1):47-57.
- 9. Jones G: Pharmacokinetics of vitamin D toxicity. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2008, **88**(2):582S-586S.
- 10. Fraser DR, Kodicek E: Unique biosynthesis by kidney of a biological active vitamin D metabolite. *Nature* 1970, **228**(5273):764-766.
- 11. Hewison M, Zehnder D, Chakraverty R, Adams JS: Vitamin D and barrier function: a novel role for extra-renal 1 alpha-hydroxylase. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 2004, 215(1-2):31-38.
- 12. Nykjaer A, Dragun D, Walther D, Vorum H, Jacobsen C, Herz J, Melsen F, Christensen EI, Willnow TE: An endocytic pathway essential for renal uptake and activation of the steroid 25-(OH) vitamin D3. *Cell* 1999, 96(4):507-515.
- 13. Brunette MG, Chan M, Ferriere C, Roberts KD: Site of 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 synthesis in the kidney. *Nature* 1978, 276(5685):287-289.
- 14. Levine BS, Singer FR, Bryce GF, Mallon JP, Miller ON, Coburn JW: **Pharmacokinetics and biologic effects of calcitriol in normal humans**. *The Journal of laboratory and clinical medicine* 1985, **105**(2):239-246.
- 15. Cooke NE, Haddad JG: Vitamin D binding protein (Gc-globulin). *Endocr Rev* 1989, **10**(3):294-307.
- 16. Omdahl JL, Morris HA, May BK: **Hydroxylase enzymes of the vitamin D pathway:** expression, function, and regulation. *Annual review of nutrition* 2002, **22**:139-166.
- 17. Onisko BL, Esvelt RP, Schnoes HK, Deluca HF: **Excretion of metabolites of 1 alpha, 25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in rat bile**. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 1980, **205**(1):175-179.
- Cheng JB, Motola DL, Mangelsdorf DJ, Russell DW: De-orphanization of cytochrome P450 2R1: a microsomal vitamin D 25-hydroxilase. J Biol Chem 2003, 278(39):38084-38093.
- Shinkyo R, Sakaki T, Kamakura M, Ohta M, Inouye K: Metabolism of vitamin D by human microsomal CYP2R1. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 2004, 324(1):451-457.

- 20. Strushkevich N, Usanov SA, Plotnikov AN, Jones G, Park HW: **Structural analysis of CYP2R1 in complex with vitamin D3**. *Journal of molecular biology* 2008, **380**(1):95-106.
- 21. Cheng JB, Levine MA, Bell NH, Mangelsdorf DJ, Russell DW: Genetic evidence that the human CYP2R1 enzyme is a key vitamin D 25-hydroxylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004, 101(20):7711-7715.
- 22. Guo YD, Strugnell S, Back DW, Jones G: Transfected human liver cytochrome P-450 hydroxylates vitamin D analogs at different side-chain positions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993, **90**(18):8668-8672.
- 23. Rosen H, Reshef A, Maeda N, Lippoldt A, Shpizen S, Triger L, Eggertsen G, Bjorkhem I, Leitersdorf E: **Markedly reduced bile acid synthesis but maintained levels of cholesterol and vitamin D metabolites in mice with disrupted sterol 27-hydroxylase gene**. *J Biol Chem* 1998, **273**(24):14805-14812.
- Cali JJ, Hsieh CL, Francke U, Russell DW: Mutations in the bile acid biosynthetic enzyme sterol 27-hydroxylase underlie cerebrotendinous xanthomatosis. J Biol Chem 1991, 266(12):7779-7783.
- 25. Gupta RP, He YA, Patrick KS, Halpert JR, Bell NH: **CYP3A4 is a vitamin D-24- and 25hydroxylase: analysis of structure function by site-directed mutagenesis**. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2005, **90**(2):1210-1219.
- 26. Thompson PD, Jurutka PW, Whitfield GK, Myskowski SM, Eichhorst KR, Dominguez CE, Haussler CA, Haussler MR: Liganded VDR induces CYP3A4 in small intestinal and colon cancer cells via DR3 and ER6 vitamin D responsive elements. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 2002, 299(5):730-738.
- 27. Hayashi S, Usui E, Okuda K: **Sex-related difference in vitamin D3 25-hydroxylase of rat liver microsomes**. *Journal of biochemistry* 1988, **103**(5):863-866.
- 28. Saarem K, Bergseth S, Oftebro H, Pedersen JI: **Subcellular localization of vitamin D3 25**hydroxylase in human liver. *J Biol Chem* 1984, **259**(17):10936-10940.
- 29. Aiba I, Yamasaki T, Shinki T, Izumi S, Yamamoto K, Yamada S, Terato H, Ide H, Ohyama Y: Characterization of rat and human CYP2J enzymes as Vitamin D 25-hydroxylases. *Steroids* 2006, **71**(10):849-856.
- Fu GK, Lin D, Zhang MY, Bikle DD, Shackleton CH, Miller WL, Portale AA: Cloning of human 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1 alpha-hydroxylase and mutations causing vitamin Ddependent rickets type 1. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md)* 1997, 11(13):1961-1970.
- Zehnder D, Bland R, Williams MC, McNinch RW, Howie AJ, Stewart PM, Hewison M: Extrarenal expression of 25-hydroxyvitamin d(3)-1 alpha-hydroxylase. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001, 86(2):888-894.
- 32. Townsend K, Banwell CM, Guy M, Colston KW, Mansi JL, Stewart PM, Campbell MJ, Hewison M: **Autocrine metabolism of vitamin D in normal and malignant breast tissue**. *Clin Cancer Res* 2005, **11**(9):3579-3586.
- 33. Schwartz GG, Whitlatch LW, Chen TC, Lokeshwar BL, Holick MF: Human prostate cells synthesize 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 from 25-hydroxyvitamin D3. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 1998, 7(5):391-395.
- 34. Kim CJ: **Vitamin D dependent rickets type I**. *Korean journal of pediatrics* 2011, **54**(2):51-54.
- Fraser D, Kooh SW, Kind HP, Holick MF, Tanaka Y, DeLuca HF: Pathogenesis of hereditary vitamin-D-dependent rickets. An inborn error of vitamin D metabolism involving defective conversion of 25-hydroxyvitamin D to 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. The New England journal of medicine 1973, 289(16):817-822.

- Panda DK, Miao D, Tremblay ML, Sirois J, Farookhi R, Hendy GN, Goltzman D: Targeted ablation of the 25-hydroxyvitamin D 1alpha -hydroxylase enzyme: evidence for skeletal, reproductive, and immune dysfunction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001, 98(13):7498-7503.
- 37. Dardenne O, Prudhomme J, Hacking SA, Glorieux FH, St-Arnaud R: **Rescue of the** pseudo-vitamin D deficiency rickets phenotype of CYP27B1-deficient mice by treatment with 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3: biochemical, histomorphometric, and biomechanical analyses. *J Bone Miner Res* 2003, 18(4):637-643.
- 38. Dardenne O, Prud'homme J, Hacking SA, Glorieux FH, St-Arnaud R: **Correction of the abnormal mineral ion homeostasis with a high-calcium, high-phosphorus, high-lactose diet rescues the PDDR phenotype of mice deficient for the 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1alpha-hydroxylase (CYP27B1)**. *Bone* 2003, **32**(4):332-340.
- 39. Kremer R, Goltzman D: **Parathyroid hormone stimulates mammalian renal 25**hydroxyvitamin D3-1 alpha-hydroxylase in vitro. *Endocrinology* 1982, **110**(1):294-296.
- 40. Brenza HL, Kimmel-Jehan C, Jehan F, Shinki T, Wakino S, Anazawa H, Suda T, DeLuca HF: Parathyroid hormone activation of the 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1alpha-hydroxylase gene promoter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1998, **95**(4):1387-1391.
- 41. Omdahl JL, Gray RW, Boyle IT, Knutson J, DeLuca HF: **Regulation of metabolism of 25**hydroxycholecalciferol by kidney tissue in vitro by dietary calcium. *Nature: New biology* 1972, **237**(71):63-64.
- 42. Garabedian M, Holick MF, Deluca HF, Boyle IT: **Control of 25-hydroxycholecalciferol metabolism by parathyroid glands**. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1972, **69**(7):1673-1676.
- 43. Henry HL, Midgett RJ, Norman AW: **Regulation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1-hydroxylase** in vivo. *J Biol Chem* 1974, **249**(23):7584-7592.
- 44. Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, Fujita T, Nakahara K, Fukumoto S, Yamashita T: **FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis**. *J Bone Miner Res* 2004, **19**(3):429-435.
- 45. Trechsel U, Bonjour JP, Fleisch H: **Regulation of the metabolism of 25-hydroxyvitamin** D3 in primary cultures of chick kidney cells. J Clin Invest 1979, 64(1):206-217.
- 46. Young MV, Schwartz GG, Wang L, Jamieson DP, Whitlatch LW, Flanagan JN, Lokeshwar BL, Holick MF, Chen TC: **The prostate 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1 alpha-hydroxylase is not influenced by parathyroid hormone and calcium: implications for prostate cancer chemoprevention by vitamin D**. *Carcinogenesis* 2004, **25**(6):967-971.
- 47. Bikle D: Nonclassic actions of vitamin D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009, **94**(1):26-34.
- 48. Ohyama Y, Ozono K, Uchida M, Yoshimura M, Shinki T, Suda T, Yamamoto O: Functional assessment of two vitamin D-responsive elements in the rat 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 24-hydroxylase gene. J Biol Chem 1996, 271(48):30381-30385.
- 49. Prosser DE, Jones G: **Enzymes involved in the activation and inactivation of vitamin D**. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2004, **29**(12):664-673.
- 50. Wu S, Finch J, Zhong M, Slatopolsky E, Grieff M, Brown AJ: **Expression of the renal 25**hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase gene: regulation by dietary phosphate. *The American journal of physiology* 1996, **271**(1 Pt 2):F203-208.
- 51. Henry HL, Norman AW: Vitamin D: metabolism and biological actions. *Annual review of nutrition* 1984, **4**:493-520.
- 52. St-Arnaud R, Arabian A, Travers R, Barletta F, Raval-Pandya M, Chapin K, Depovere J, Mathieu C, Christakos S, Demay MB *et al*: **Deficient mineralization of intramembranous bone in vitamin D-24-hydroxylase-ablated mice is due to elevated 1,25-**

dihydroxyvitamin D and not to the absence of 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. *Endocrinology* 2000, **141**(7):2658-2666.

- 53. Anderson MG, Nakane M, Ruan X, Kroeger PE, Wu-Wong JR: **Expression of VDR and CYP24A1 mRNA in human tumors**. *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology* 2006, **57**(2):234-240.
- 54. Friedrich M, Rafi L, Mitschele T, Tilgen W, Schmidt W, Reichrath J: **Analysis of the** vitamin D system in cervical carcinomas, breast cancer and ovarian cancer. *Recent Results Cancer Res* 2003, **164**:239-246.
- 55. Haussler MR, Whitfield GK, Haussler CA, Hsieh JC, Thompson PD, Selznick SH, Dominguez CE, Jurutka PW: **The nuclear vitamin D receptor: biological and molecular regulatory properties revealed**. *J Bone Miner Res* 1998, **13**(3):325-349.
- 56. Nagpal S, Na S, Rathnachalam R: **Noncalcemic actions of vitamin D receptor ligands**. *Endocr Rev* 2005, **26**(5):662-687.
- 57. Cheskis B, Freedman LP: Ligand modulates the conversion of DNA-bound vitamin D3 receptor (VDR) homodimers into VDR-retinoid X receptor heterodimers. *Mol Cell Biol* 1994, **14**(5):3329-3338.
- Prufer K, Racz A, Lin GC, Barsony J: Dimerization with retinoid X receptors promotes nuclear localization and subnuclear targeting of vitamin D receptors. *J Biol Chem* 2000, 275(52):41114-41123.
- 59. Deeb KK, Trump DL, Johnson CS: **Vitamin D signalling pathways in cancer: potential for anticancer therapeutics**. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2007, **7**(9):684-700.
- 60. Nemere I, Yoshimoto Y, Norman AW: Calcium transport in perfused duodena from normal chicks: enhancement within fourteen minutes of exposure to 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3. Endocrinology 1984, 115(4):1476-1483.
- Huhtakangas JA, Olivera CJ, Bishop JE, Zanello LP, Norman AW: The vitamin D receptor is present in caveolae-enriched plasma membranes and binds 1 alpha,25(OH)2-vitamin D3 in vivo and in vitro. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md)* 2004, 18(11):2660-2671.
- 62. Nemere I, Farach-Carson MC, Rohe B, Sterling TM, Norman AW, Boyan BD, Safford SE:
   Ribozyme knockdown functionally links a 1,25(OH)2D3 membrane binding protein
   (1,25D3-MARRS) and phosphate uptake in intestinal cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004, 101(19):7392-7397.
- 63. Feldman D, Pike JW, Adams JS: **Vitamin D**: Elsevier Science; 2011.
- 64. Rasmussen H, Deluca HF: **CALCIUM HOMEOSTASIS**. Ergebnisse der Physiologie, biologischen Chemie und experimentellen Pharmakologie 1963, **53**:108-173.
- 65. Suda T, Ueno Y, Fujii K, Shinki T: **Vitamin D and bone**. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* 2003, **88**(2):259-266.
- 66. Wada T, Nakashima T, Hiroshi N, Penninger JM: **RANKL-RANK signaling in** osteoclastogenesis and bone disease. *Trends in molecular medicine* 2006, **12**(1):17-25.
- 67. Garabedian M, Tanaka Y, Holick MF, Deluca HF: **Response of intestinal calcium** transport and bone calcium mobilization to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in thyroparathyroidectomized rats. *Endocrinology* 1974, 94(4):1022-1027.
- 68. Horiuchi N, Suda T, Takahashi H, Shimazawa E, Ogata E: In vivo evidence for the intermediary role of 3',5'-cyclic AMP in parathyroid hormone-induced stimulation of 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 synthesis in rats. *Endocrinology* 1977, 101(3):969-974.
- 69. Shinki T, Jin CH, Nishimura A, Nagai Y, Ohyama Y, Noshiro M, Okuda K, Suda T: Parathyroid hormone inhibits 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-24-hydroxylase mRNA expression

stimulated by 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in rat kidney but not in intestine. *J Biol Chem* 1992, **267**(19):13757-13762.

- 70. Dusso AS, Thadhani R, Slatopolsky E: **Vitamin D receptor and analogs**. *Seminars in nephrology* 2004, **24**(1):10-16.
- 71. Van Cromphaut SJ, Dewerchin M, Hoenderop JG, Stockmans I, Van Herck E, Kato S, Bindels RJ, Collen D, Carmeliet P, Bouillon R *et al*: **Duodenal calcium absorption in** vitamin D receptor-knockout mice: functional and molecular aspects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001, **98**(23):13324-13329.
- 72. Feng JQ, Ye L, Schiavi S: **Do osteocytes contribute to phosphate homeostasis?** *Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension* 2009, **18**(4):285-291.
- 73. Alon US: **Clinical practice : Fibroblast growth factor (FGF)23: a new hormone**. *Eur J Pediatr* 2011, **170**(5):545-554.
- 74. Ben-Dov IZ, Galitzer H, Lavi-Moshayoff V, Goetz R, Kuro-o M, Mohammadi M, Sirkis R, Naveh-Many T, Silver J: **The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats**. *J Clin Invest* 2007, **117**(12):4003-4008.
- 75. Yang ES, Burnstein KL: Vitamin D inhibits G1 to S progression in LNCaP prostate cancer cells through p27Kip1 stabilization and Cdk2 mislocalization to the cytoplasm. *J Biol Chem* 2003, 278(47):46862-46868.
- 76. Stewart LV, Weigel NL: **Vitamin D and prostate cancer**. *Experimental biology and medicine (Maywood, NJ)* 2004, **229**(4):277-284.
- 77. Jensen SS, Madsen MW, Lukas J, Binderup L, Bartek J: Inhibitory effects of 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D(3) on the G(1)-S phase-controlling machinery. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md)* 2001, **15**(8):1370-1380.
- 78. Liu M, Lee MH, Cohen M, Bommakanti M, Freedman LP: **Transcriptional activation of the Cdk inhibitor p21 by vitamin D3 leads to the induced differentiation of the myelomonocytic cell line U937**. *Genes & development* 1996, **10**(2):142-153.
- 79. Verlinden L, Verstuyf A, Convents R, Marcelis S, Van Camp M, Bouillon R: Action of 1,25(OH)2D3 on the cell cycle genes, cyclin D1, p21 and p27 in MCF-7 cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 1998, 142(1-2):57-65.
- Campbell MJ, Gombart AF, Kwok SH, Park S, Koeffler HP: The anti-proliferative effects of 1alpha,25(OH)2D3 on breast and prostate cancer cells are associated with induction of BRCA1 gene expression. Oncogene 2000, 19(44):5091-5097.
- 81. Palmer HG, Gonzalez-Sancho JM, Espada J, Berciano MT, Puig I, Baulida J, Quintanilla M, Cano A, de Herreros AG, Lafarga M *et al*: **Vitamin D(3) promotes the differentiation of colon carcinoma cells by the induction of E-cadherin and the inhibition of beta-catenin signaling**. *The Journal of cell biology* 2001, **154**(2):369-387.
- 82. Kremer R, Bolivar I, Goltzman D, Hendy GN: Influence of calcium and 1,25dihydroxycholecalciferol on proliferation and proto-oncogene expression in primary cultures of bovine parathyroid cells. *Endocrinology* 1989, 125(2):935-941.
- 83. Sebag M, Gulliver W, Kremer R: Effect of 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and calcium on growth and differentiation and on c-fos and p53 gene expression in normal human keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol* 1994, 103(3):323-329.
- 84. Sebag M, Henderson J, Rhim J, Kremer R: **Relative resistance to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in a keratinocyte model of tumor progression**. *J Biol Chem* 1992, **267**(17):12162-12167.
- 85. Wang X, Studzinski GP: Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) defines the first phase of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3-induced differentiation of HL60 cells. Journal of cellular biochemistry 2001, 80(4):471-482.

- Hmama Z, Nandan D, Sly L, Knutson KL, Herrera-Velit P, Reiner NE: 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D(3)-induced myeloid cell differentiation is regulated by a vitamin D receptor-phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling complex. The Journal of experimental medicine 1999, 190(11):1583-1594.
- Reitsma PH, Rothberg PG, Astrin SM, Trial J, Bar-Shavit Z, Hall A, Teitelbaum SL, Kahn AJ:
   Regulation of myc gene expression in HL-60 leukaemia cells by a vitamin D metabolite. Nature 1983, 306(5942):492-494.
- Palmer HG, Sanchez-Carbayo M, Ordonez-Moran P, Larriba MJ, Cordon-Cardo C, Munoz A: Genetic signatures of differentiation induced by 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in human colon cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 2003, 63(22):7799-7806.
- 89. Guzey M, Luo J, Getzenberg RH: Vitamin D3 modulated gene expression patterns in human primary normal and cancer prostate cells. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* 2004, 93(2):271-285.
- 90. Chen A, Davis BH, Bissonnette M, Scaglione-Sewell B, Brasitus TA: 1,25 Dihydroxyvitamin D(3) stimulates activator protein-1-dependent Caco-2 cell
   differentiation. J Biol Chem 1999, 274(50):35505-35513.
- 91. Fernandez-Garcia NI, Palmer HG, Garcia M, Gonzalez-Martin A, del Rio M, Barettino D, Volpert O, Munoz A, Jimenez B: **1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulates the expression of Id1 and Id2 genes and the angiogenic phenotype of human colon carcinoma cells**. *Oncogene* 2005, **24**(43):6533-6544.
- 92. Ylikomi T, Laaksi I, Lou YR, Martikainen P, Miettinen S, Pennanen P, Purmonen S, Syvala H, Vienonen A, Tuohimaa P: **Antiproliferative action of vitamin D**. *Vitamins and hormones* 2002, **64**:357-406.
- 93. Proietti S, Cucina A, D'Anselmi F, Dinicola S, Pasqualato A, Lisi E, Bizzarri M: **Melatonin** and vitamin D3 synergistically down-regulate Akt and MDM2 leading to TGFbeta-1dependent growth inhibition of breast cancer cells. *Journal of pineal research* 2011, 50(2):150-158.
- 94. Brosseau CM, Pirianov G, Colston KW: Involvement of stress activated protein kinases (JNK and p38) in 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3-induced breast cell death. *Steroids* 2010, 75(13-14):1082-1088.
- 95. Vanoirbeek E, Krishnan A, Eelen G, Verlinden L, Bouillon R, Feldman D, Verstuyf A: **The** anti-cancer and anti-inflammatory actions of **1,25(OH)(2)D(3)**. *Best practice & research Clinical endocrinology & metabolism* 2011, **25**(4):593-604.
- 96. Jiang F, Bao J, Li P, Nicosia SV, Bai W: Induction of ovarian cancer cell apoptosis by 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 through the down-regulation of telomerase. *J Biol Chem* 2004, 279(51):53213-53221.
- 97. Duque G, El Abdaimi K, Henderson JE, Lomri A, Kremer R: Vitamin D inhibits Fas ligandinduced apoptosis in human osteoblasts by regulating components of both the mitochondrial and Fas-related pathways. *Bone* 2004, **35**(1):57-64.
- 98. Mantell DJ, Owens PE, Bundred NJ, Mawer EB, Canfield AE: **1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) inhibits angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo**. *Circ Res* 2000, **87**(3):214-220.
- Ben-Shoshan M, Amir S, Dang DT, Dang LH, Weisman Y, Mabjeesh NJ: 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 (Calcitriol) inhibits hypoxia-inducible factor-1/vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in human cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2007, 6(4):1433-1439.
- 100. Bao BY, Yao J, Lee YF: **1alpha, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 suppresses interleukin-8**mediated prostate cancer cell angiogenesis. *Carcinogenesis* 2006, **27**(9):1883-1893.

- 101. Lemire JM, Adams JS, Sakai R, Jordan SC: **1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 suppresses** proliferation and immunoglobulin production by normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J Clin Invest* 1984, **74**(2):657-661.
- 102. Chen S, Sims GP, Chen XX, Gu YY, Lipsky PE: **Modulatory effects of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 on human B cell differentiation**. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2007, **179**(3):1634-1647.
- Bhalla AK, Amento EP, Serog B, Glimcher LH: 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits antigeninduced T cell activation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 1984, 133(4):1748-1754.
- Boonstra A, Barrat FJ, Crain C, Heath VL, Savelkoul HF, O'Garra A: 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin d3 has a direct effect on naive CD4(+) T cells to enhance the development of Th2 cells. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 2001, 167(9):4974-4980.
- 105. Gregori S, Casorati M, Amuchastegui S, Smiroldo S, Davalli AM, Adorini L: **Regulatory T** cells induced by 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and mycophenolate mofetil treatment mediate transplantation tolerance. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md :* 1950) 2001, 167(4):1945-1953.
- 106. Almerighi C, Sinistro A, Cavazza A, Ciaprini C, Rocchi G, Bergamini A: **1Alpha,25**dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits CD40L-induced pro-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activity in human monocytes. *Cytokine* 2009, **45**(3):190-197.
- 107. Griffin MD, Lutz W, Phan VA, Bachman LA, McKean DJ, Kumar R: Dendritic cell modulation by 1alpha,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs: a vitamin D receptordependent pathway that promotes a persistent state of immaturity in vitro and in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001, **98**(12):6800-6805.
- Canadian Cancer Statistics 2012

   [http://www.cancer.ca/~/media/cancer.ca/CW/cancer%20information/cancer%20101/C

   anadian%20cancer%20statistics/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2012---English.pdf

]

- 109. Peller S: CARCINOGENESIS AS A MEANS OF REDUCING CANCER MORTALITY. *The Lancet* 1936, **228**(5897):552-556.
- 110. Apperly FL: **The Relation of Solar Radiation to Cancer Mortality in North America**. *Cancer Research* 1941, **1**(3):191-195.
- 111. Garland FC, Garland CF, Gorham ED, Young JF: **Geographic variation in breast cancer** mortality in the United States: a hypothesis involving exposure to solar radiation. *Preventive medicine* 1990, **19**(6):614-622.
- 112. John EM, Schwartz GG, Dreon DM, Koo J: Vitamin D and breast cancer risk: the NHANES I Epidemiologic follow-up study, 1971-1975 to 1992. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1999, 8(5):399-406.
- 113. Garland CF, Gorham ED, Mohr SB, Grant WB, Giovannucci EL, Lipkin M, Newmark H, Holick MF, Garland FC: **Vitamin D and prevention of breast cancer: pooled analysis**. *J* Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2007, **103**(3-5):708-711.
- 114. Knekt P, Jarvinen R, Seppanen R, Pukkala E, Aromaa A: **Intake of dairy products and the risk of breast cancer**. *Br J Cancer* 1996, **73**(5):687-691.
- 115. Brisson J, Berube S, Diorio C, Sinotte M, Pollak M, Masse B: **Synchronized seasonal** variations of mammographic breast density and plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin d. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2007, **16**(5):929-933.

- 116. Janowsky EC, Lester GE, Weinberg CR, Millikan RC, Schildkraut JM, Garrett PA, Hulka BS: Association between low levels of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and breast cancer risk. Public health nutrition 1999, 2(3):283-291.
- Hiatt RA, Krieger N, Lobaugh B, Drezner MK, Vogelman JH, Orentreich N: Prediagnostic serum vitamin D and breast cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1998, 90(6):461-463.
- 118. Simard A, Vobecky J, Vobecky JS: **Vitamin D deficiency and cancer of the breast: an unprovocative ecological hypothesis**. *Canadian journal of public health Revue canadienne de sante publique* 1991, **82**(5):300-303.
- 119. Zinser G, Packman K, Welsh J: Vitamin D(3) receptor ablation alters mammary gland morphogenesis. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 2002, **129**(13):3067-3076.
- 120. Zinser GM, Welsh J: Accelerated mammary gland development during pregnancy and delayed postlactational involution in vitamin D3 receptor null mice. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md)* 2004, **18**(9):2208-2223.
- 121. Zinser GM, Suckow M, Welsh J: Vitamin D receptor (VDR) ablation alters carcinogeninduced tumorigenesis in mammary gland, epidermis and lymphoid tissues. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 2005, **97**(1-2):153-164.
- 122. Zinser GM, Welsh J: Vitamin D receptor status alters mammary gland morphology and tumorigenesis in MMTV-neu mice. *Carcinogenesis* 2004, **25**(12):2361-2372.
- 123. Swami S, Krishnan AV, Wang JY, Jensen K, Peng L, Albertelli MA, Feldman D: Inhibitory effects of calcitriol on the growth of MCF-7 breast cancer xenografts in nude mice: selective modulation of aromatase expression in vivo. *Hormones & cancer* 2011, 2(3):190-202.
- 124. So JY, Lee HJ, Smolarek AK, Paul S, Wang CX, Maehr H, Uskokovic M, Zheng X, Conney AH, Cai L *et al*: A novel Gemini vitamin D analog represses the expression of a stem cell marker CD44 in breast cancer. *Molecular pharmacology* 2011, **79**(3):360-367.
- 125. Koshizuka K, Kubota T, Said J, Koike M, Binderup L, Uskokovic M, Koeffler HP:
   Combination therapy of a vitamin D3 analog and all-trans-retinoic acid: effect on human breast cancer in nude mice. Anticancer research 1999, 19(1A):519-524.
- 126. Sundaram S, Sea A, Feldman S, Strawbridge R, Hoopes PJ, Demidenko E, Binderup L, Gewirtz DA: The combination of a potent vitamin D3 analog, EB 1089, with ionizing radiation reduces tumor growth and induces apoptosis of MCF-7 breast tumor xenografts in nude mice. *Clin Cancer Res* 2003, **9**(6):2350-2356.
- 127. Koshizuka K, Koike M, Asou H, Cho SK, Stephen T, Rude RK, Binderup L, Uskokovic M, Koeffler HP: **Combined effect of vitamin D3 analogs and paclitaxel on the growth of MCF-7 breast cancer cells in vivo**. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 1999, **53**(2):113-120.
- 128. Swami S, Krishnan AV, Wang JY, Jensen K, Horst R, Albertelli MA, Feldman D: Dietary vitamin D(3) and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) (calcitriol) exhibit equivalent anticancer activity in mouse xenograft models of breast and prostate cancer. Endocrinology 2012, 153(6):2576-2587.
- 129. Bower M, Colston KW, Stein RC, Hedley A, Gazet JC, Ford HT, Combes RC: **Topical** calcipotriol treatment in advanced breast cancer. *Lancet* 1991, **337**(8743):701-702.
- 130. Gulliford T, English J, Colston KW, Menday P, Moller S, Coombes RC: **A phase I study of the vitamin D analogue EB 1089 in patients with advanced breast and colorectal cancer**. *Br J Cancer* 1998, **78**(1):6-13.
- 131. Amir E, Simmons CE, Freedman OC, Dranitsaris G, Cole DE, Vieth R, Ooi WS, Clemons M: A phase 2 trial exploring the effects of high-dose (10,000 IU/day) vitamin D(3) in breast cancer patients with bone metastases. *Cancer* 2010, 116(2):284-291.

- 132. Prentice RL, Anderson GL: **The women's health initiative: lessons learned**. *Annual review of public health* 2008, **29**:131-150.
- 133. Lappe JM, Travers-Gustafson D, Davies KM, Recker RR, Heaney RP: Vitamin D and calcium supplementation reduces cancer risk: results of a randomized trial. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2007, **85**(6):1586-1591.
- 134. Mundy GR: **Metastasis to bone: Causes, consequences and therapeutic opportunities**. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2002, **2**(8):584-593.
- 135. Coleman RE: Metastatic bone disease: clinical features, pathophysiology and treatment strategies. *Cancer Treatment Reviews* 2001, **27**(3):165-176.
- 136. Costa L, Major PP: Effect of bisphosphonates on pain and quality of life in patients with bone metastases. *Nature clinical practice Oncology* 2009, **6**(3):163-174.
- 137. Paget S: The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889. Cancer metastasis reviews 1989, 8(2):98-101.
- 138. Liotta LA, Kohn EC: **The microenvironment of the tumour-host interface**. *Nature* 2001, **411**(6835):375-379.
- 139. Liotta LA, Kohn E: **Cancer invasion and metastases**. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association* 1990, **263**(8):1123-1126.
- 140. Zetter BR: **The cellular basis of site-specific tumor metastasis**. *The New England journal of medicine* 1990, **322**(9):605-612.
- 141. Ooi LL, Zheng Y, Stalgis-Bilinski K, Dunstan CR: **The bone remodeling environment is a** factor in breast cancer bone metastasis. *Bone* 2011, **48**(1):66-70.
- 142. Wang J, Loberg R, Taichman RS: **The pivotal role of CXCL12 (SDF-1)/CXCR4 axis in bone metastasis**. *Cancer metastasis reviews* 2006, **25**(4):573-587.
- 143. Strell C, Lang K, Niggemann B, Zaenker KS, Entschladen F: **Surface molecules regulating** rolling and adhesion to endothelium of neutrophil granulocytes and MDA-MB-468 breast carcinoma cells and their interaction. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* 2007, **64**(24):3306-3316.
- 144. Boyde A, Maconnachie E, Reid SA, Delling G, Mundy GR: Scanning electron microscopy in bone pathology: review of methods, potential and applications. *Scanning electron microscopy* 1986(Pt 4):1537-1554.
- 145. Quattrocchi CC, Piciucchi S, Sammarra M, Santini D, Vincenzi B, Tonini G, Grasso RF, Zobel BB: **Bone metastases in breast cancer: higher prevalence of osteosclerotic lesions**. *La Radiologia medica* 2007, **112**(7):1049-1059.
- 146. Charhon SA, Chapuy MC, Delvin EE, Valentin-Opran A, Edouard CM, Meunier PJ: Histomorphometric analysis of sclerotic bone metastases from prostatic carcinoma special reference to osteomalacia. *Cancer* 1983, **51**(5):918-924.
- 147. Lerner UH: **Bone remodeling in post-menopausal osteoporosis**. *Journal of dental research* 2006, **85**(7):584-595.
- 148. Feng X, McDonald JM: **Disorders of bone remodeling**. *Annual review of pathology* 2011, **6**:121-145.
- 149. Seeman E: **Bone modeling and remodeling**. *Critical reviews in eukaryotic gene expression* 2009, **19**(3):219-233.
- Parfitt AM: Osteonal and hemi-osteonal remodeling: the spatial and temporal framework for signal traffic in adult human bone. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* 1994, 55(3):273-286.
- 151. Parfitt AM: The bone remodeling compartment: a circulatory function for bone lining cells. J Bone Miner Res 2001, 16(9):1583-1585.

- 152. Bonewald LF: Osteocytes as dynamic multifunctional cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007, 1116:281-290.
- 153. Santos A, Bakker AD, Klein-Nulend J: **The role of osteocytes in bone mechanotransduction**. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA 2009, **20**(6):1027-1031.
- 154. Teitelbaum SL: **Bone resorption by osteoclasts**. *Science (New York, NY)* 2000, **289**(5484):1504-1508.
- Boyle WJ, Simonet WS, Lacey DL: Osteoclast differentiation and activation. *Nature* 2003, 423(6937):337-342.
- 156. Hadjidakis DJ, Androulakis, II: Bone remodeling. Ann NY Acad Sci 2006, 1092:385-396.
- 157. Ducy P, Schinke T, Karsenty G: **The osteoblast: a sophisticated fibroblast under central surveillance**. *Science (New York, NY)* 2000, **289**(5484):1501-1504.
- 158. Chen YC, Sosnoski DM, Mastro AM: Breast cancer metastasis to the bone: mechanisms of bone loss. *Breast Cancer Res* 2010, **12**(6):215.
- 159. Parfitt AM: Targeted and nontargeted bone remodeling: relationship to basic multicellular unit origination and progression. *Bone* 2002, **30**(1):5-7.
- 160. Southby J, Kissin MW, Danks JA, Hayman JA, Moseley JM, Henderson MA, Bennett RC, Martin TJ: **Immunohistochemical localization of parathyroid hormone-related protein in human breast cancer**. *Cancer Res* 1990, **50**(23):7710-7716.
- 161. Powell GJ, Southby J, Danks JA, Stillwell RG, Hayman JA, Henderson MA, Bennett RC, Martin TJ: Localization of parathyroid hormone-related protein in breast cancer metastases: increased incidence in bone compared with other sites. *Cancer Res* 1991, 51(11):3059-3061.
- 162. Karaplis AC, Goltzman D: **PTH and PTHrP effects on the skeleton**. *Reviews in endocrine & metabolic disorders* 2000, **1**(4):331-341.
- 163. Kang Y, Siegel PM, Shu W, Drobnjak M, Kakonen SM, Cordon-Cardo C, Guise TA, Massague J: **A multigenic program mediating breast cancer metastasis to bone**. *Cancer cell* 2003, **3**(6):537-549.
- 164. Bendre MS, Montague DC, Peery T, Akel NS, Gaddy D, Suva LJ: Interleukin-8 stimulation of osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption is a mechanism for the increased osteolysis of metastatic bone disease. *Bone* 2003, **33**(1):28-37.
- 165. Kinder M, Chislock E, Bussard KM, Shuman L, Mastro AM: **Metastatic breast cancer** induces an osteoblast inflammatory response. *Exp Cell Res* 2008, **314**(1):173-183.
- 166. Lynch CC, Hikosaka A, Acuff HB, Martin MD, Kawai N, Singh RK, Vargo-Gogola TC, Begtrup JL, Peterson TE, Fingleton B *et al*: **MMP-7 promotes prostate cancer-induced osteolysis via the solubilization of RANKL**. *Cancer cell* 2005, **7**(5):485-496.
- 167. Lu X, Wang Q, Hu G, Van Poznak C, Fleisher M, Reiss M, Massague J, Kang Y: ADAMTS1 and MMP1 proteolytically engage EGF-like ligands in an osteolytic signaling cascade for bone metastasis. Genes & development 2009, 23(16):1882-1894.
- 168. Weilbaecher KN, Guise TA, McCauley LK: **Cancer to bone: a fatal attraction**. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2011, **11**(6):411-425.
- 169. Marie PJ: **Transcription factors controlling osteoblastogenesis**. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 2008, **473**(2):98-105.
- 170. Javed A, Barnes GL, Pratap J, Antkowiak T, Gerstenfeld LC, van Wijnen AJ, Stein JL, Lian JB, Stein GS: Impaired intranuclear trafficking of Runx2 (AML3/CBFA1) transcription factors in breast cancer cells inhibits osteolysis in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005, 102(5):1454-1459.

- 171. Sterling JA, Oyajobi BO, Grubbs B, Padalecki SS, Munoz SA, Gupta A, Story B, Zhao M, Mundy GR: **The hedgehog signaling molecule Gli2 induces parathyroid hormone**related peptide expression and osteolysis in metastatic human breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 2006, **66**(15):7548-7553.
- 172. Hiraga T, Kizaka-Kondoh S, Hirota K, Hiraoka M, Yoneda T: **Hypoxia and hypoxia**inducible factor-1 expression enhance osteolytic bone metastases of breast cancer. *Cancer Res* 2007, **67**(9):4157-4163.
- 173. Dunn LK, Mohammad KS, Fournier PG, McKenna CR, Davis HW, Niewolna M, Peng XH, Chirgwin JM, Guise TA: **Hypoxia and TGF-beta drive breast cancer bone metastases through parallel signaling pathways in tumor cells and the bone microenvironment**. *PloS one* 2009, **4**(9):e6896.
- 174. Kingsley LA, Fournier PG, Chirgwin JM, Guise TA: **Molecular biology of bone metastasis**. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2007, **6**(10):2609-2617.
- 175. Sanders JL, Chattopadhyay N, Kifor O, Yamaguchi T, Butters RR, Brown EM: **Extracellular** calcium-sensing receptor expression and its potential role in regulating parathyroid hormone-related peptide secretion in human breast cancer cell lines. *Endocrinology* 2000, **141**(12):4357-4364.
- 176. Liu G, Hu X, Chakrabarty S: Calcium sensing receptor down-regulates malignant cell behavior and promotes chemosensitivity in human breast cancer cells. *Cell calcium* 2009, **45**(3):216-225.
- 177. Henderson J, Sebag M, Rhim J, Goltzman D, Kremer R: **Dysregulation of parathyroid hormone-like peptide expression and secretion in a keratinocyte model of tumor progression**. *Cancer Res* 1991, **51**(24):6521-6528.
- 178. Yano S, Macleod RJ, Chattopadhyay N, Tfelt-Hansen J, Kifor O, Butters RR, Brown EM: Calcium-sensing receptor activation stimulates parathyroid hormone-related protein secretion in prostate cancer cells: role of epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation. *Bone* 2004, **35**(3):664-672.
- 179. Saidak Z, Boudot C, Abdoune R, Petit L, Brazier M, Mentaverri R, Kamel S: **Extracellular** calcium promotes the migration of breast cancer cells through the activation of the calcium sensing receptor. *Exp Cell Res* 2009, **315**(12):2072-2080.
- 180. Yang L, Edwards CM, Mundy GR: **Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid-derived suppressor cells:** formidable partners in tumor metastasis. *J Bone Miner Res* 2010, **25**(8):1701-1706.
- 181. Bingle L, Brown NJ, Lewis CE: The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies. *The Journal of pathology* 2002, 196(3):254-265.
- 182. Takayanagi H: **Osteoimmunology and the effects of the immune system on bone**. *Nature reviews Rheumatology* 2009, **5**(12):667-676.
- 183. Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD: Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nature reviews Immunology 2006, 6(11):836-848.
- 184. Gay LJ, Felding-Habermann B: Contribution of platelets to tumour metastasis. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2011, **11**(2):123-134.
- 185. Boucharaba A, Serre CM, Gres S, Saulnier-Blache JS, Bordet JC, Guglielmi J, Clezardin P, Peyruchaud O: **Platelet-derived lysophosphatidic acid supports the progression of osteolytic bone metastases in breast cancer**. *J Clin Invest* 2004, **114**(12):1714-1725.
- 186. Nelson JB, Hedican SP, George DJ, Reddi AH, Piantadosi S, Eisenberger MA, Simons JW: Identification of endothelin-1 in the pathophysiology of metastatic adenocarcinoma of the prostate. Nature medicine 1995, 1(9):944-949.

- 187. Guise TA, Yin JJ, Mohammad KS: **Role of endothelin-1 in osteoblastic bone metastases**. *Cancer* 2003, **97**(S3):779-784.
- 188. Harris SE, Bonewald LF, Harris MA, Sabatini M, Dallas S, Feng JQ, Ghosh-Choudhury N, Wozney J, Mundy GR: Effects of transforming growth factor beta on bone nodule formation and expression of bone morphogenetic protein 2, osteocalcin, osteopontin, alkaline phosphatase, and type I collagen mRNA in long-term cultures of fetal rat calvarial osteoblasts. J Bone Miner Res 1994, 9(6):855-863.
- 189. Rabbani SA, Desjardins J, Bell AW, Banville D, Mazar A, Henkin J, Goltzman D: An aminoterminal fragment of urokinase isolated from a prostate cancer cell line (PC-3) is mitogenic for osteoblast-like cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 1990, **173**(3):1058-1064.
- 190. Achbarou A, Kaiser S, Tremblay G, Ste-Marie LG, Brodt P, Goltzman D, Rabbani SA: Urokinase overproduction results in increased skeletal metastasis by prostate cancer cells in vivo. Cancer Res 1994, 54(9):2372-2377.
- 191. Cramer SD, Chen Z, Peehl DM: **Prostate specific antigen cleaves parathyroid hormone**related protein in the PTH-like domain: inactivation of PTHrP-stimulated cAMP accumulation in mouse osteoblasts. *The Journal of urology* 1996, **156**(2 Pt 1):526-531.
- 192. Mansson PE, Adams P, Kan M, McKeehan WL: Heparin-binding growth factor gene expression and receptor characteristics in normal rat prostate and two transplantable rat prostate tumors. *Cancer Res* 1989, **49**(9):2485-2494.
- 193. Dunstan CR, Boyce R, Boyce BF, Garrett IR, Izbicka E, Burgess WH, Mundy GR: **Systemic** administration of acidic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-1) prevents bone loss and increases new bone formation in ovariectomized rats. *J Bone Miner Res* 1999, 14(6):953-959.
- 194. Izbicka E, Dunstan C, Esparza J, Jacobs C, Sabatini M, Mundy GR: Human amniotic tumor that induces new bone formation in vivo produces growth-regulatory activity in vitro for osteoblasts identified as an extended form of basic fibroblast growth factor. *Cancer Res* 1996, **56**(3):633-636.
- 195. von Moos R, Sternberg C, Body JJ, Bokemeyer C: Reducing the burden of bone metastases: current concepts and treatment options. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer 2013, 21(6):1773-1783.
- 196. Saad F, Gleason DM, Murray R, Tchekmedyian S, Venner P, Lacombe L, Chin JL, Vinholes JJ, Goas JA, Chen B: **A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of zoledronic acid in patients with hormone-refractory metastatic prostate carcinoma**. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2002, **94**(19):1458-1468.
- 197. Pavlakis N, Schmidt R, Stockler M: **Bisphosphonates for breast cancer**. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews* 2005(3):CD003474.
- 198. Papapetrou PD: **Bisphosphonate-associated adverse events**. *Hormones (Athens, Greece)* 2009, **8**(2):96-110.
- 199. Bekker PJ, Holloway DL, Rasmussen AS, Murphy R, Martin SW, Leese PT, Holmes GB, Dunstan CR, DePaoli AM: A single-dose placebo-controlled study of AMG 162, a fully human monoclonal antibody to RANKL, in postmenopausal women. 2004. J Bone Miner Res 2005, 20(12):2275-2282.
- 200. Stopeck AT, Lipton A, Body JJ, Steger GG, Tonkin K, de Boer RH, Lichinitser M, Fujiwara Y, Yardley DA, Viniegra M *et al*: **Denosumab compared with zoledronic acid for the treatment of bone metastases in patients with advanced breast cancer: a randomized,**

**double-blind study**. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2010, **28**(35):5132-5139.

- 201. El Abdaimi K, Dion N, Papavasiliou V, Cardinal PE, Binderup L, Goltzman D, Ste-Marie LG, Kremer R: **The vitamin D analogue EB 1089 prevents skeletal metastasis and prolongs survival time in nude mice transplanted with human breast cancer cells**. *Cancer Res* 2000, **60**(16):4412-4418.
- 202. Ooi LL, Zhou H, Kalak R, Zheng Y, Conigrave AD, Seibel MJ, Dunstan CR: Vitamin D deficiency promotes human breast cancer growth in a murine model of bone metastasis. *Cancer Res* 2010, **70**(5):1835-1844.
- 203. Ooi LL, Zheng Y, Zhou H, Trivedi T, Conigrave AD, Seibel MJ, Dunstan CR: Vitamin D deficiency promotes growth of MCF-7 human breast cancer in a rodent model of osteosclerotic bone metastasis. *Bone* 2010, **47**(4):795-803.
- 204. Mohr SB, Garland CF, Gorham ED, Grant WB, Garland FC: **Relationship between low** ultraviolet B irradiance and higher breast cancer risk in 107 countries. *The breast journal* 2008, 14(3):255-260.
- 205. Conditional Ablation of the 25OHD3-1αhydroxylase Gene (CYP27B1) in Mammary Epithelial Cells Accelerates Breast cancer Development in Vitamin D sufficient PyVMT Transgenic Mice [http://www.asbmr.org/Meetings/AnnualMeeting/AbstractDetail.aspx?aid=27f948b8-

<u>d465-49a1-86a2-3fc5d6dd3445</u>] . Lin EY, Jones JG, Li P, Zhu L, Whitney KD, Muller WJ, Pollard JW: **Progression to** 

- 206. Lin EY, Jones JG, Li P, Zhu L, Whitney KD, Muller WJ, Pollard JW: **Progression to** malignancy in the polyoma middle T oncoprotein mouse breast cancer model provides a reliable model for human diseases. *Am J Pathol* 2003, **163**(5):2113-2126.
- 207. Guy CT, Cardiff RD, Muller WJ: Induction of mammary tumors by expression of polyomavirus middle T oncogene: a transgenic mouse model for metastatic disease. *Mol Cell Biol* 1992, **12**(3):954-961.
- 208. Dankort DL, Muller WJ: Signal transduction in mammary tumorigenesis: a transgenic perspective. *Oncogene* 2000, **19**(8):1038-1044.
- 209. Lin EY, Nguyen AV, Russell RG, Pollard JW: **Colony-stimulating factor 1 promotes** progression of mammary tumors to malignancy. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2001, **193**(6):727-740.
- Zhang J, Zhao J, Jiang WJ, Shan XW, Yang XM, Gao JG: Conditional gene manipulation: Cre-ating a new biological era. *Journal of Zhejiang University Science B* 2012, 13(7):511-524.
- Lou YR, Molnar F, Perakyla M, Qiao S, Kalueff AV, St-Arnaud R, Carlberg C, Tuohimaa P:
   25-Hydroxyvitamin D(3) is an agonistic vitamin D receptor ligand. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2010, 118(3):162-170.